CZECH UNIVERSITY OF LIFE SCIENCES PRAGUE

Faculty of Environmental Sciences Department of Applied Ecology



Diploma Thesis

The effects of substrates on ibuprofen removal in constructed wetlands

Bc. Marko Tichý





DIPLOMA THESIS TOPIC

Author of thesis:	Bc. Marko Tichý		
Study programme:	Engineering Ecology		
Field of study:	Nature Conservation		
Thesis supervisor:	doc. Zhongbing Chen		
Supervising department:	Department of Applied Ecology		
Language of a thesis:	English		
Thesis title: The effects of substrates on ibuprofen remova			
	constructed wetlands		
Objectives of thesis:	Pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) have become an ever increasing concern as emerging pollutants due to their extensive use and incessant release into the environment. Even at trace-level concentrations, pharmaceuticals such ibuprofen may cause subtle, yet significant effects that impede natural ecosystems in the long-term, causing chronic aberrations to the delicate balance of aquatic systems. The use of artificial plant-based systems such as constructed wetland has been successfully engineered to treat wastewater, acting as a biological filter removing a range of pollutants such as PPCPs. However, research on the removal of PPCPs using constructed wetland is still limited. The aim of this thesis will be to examine the effects of using different substrates on the removal of ibuprofen in constructed wetland to determine the efficiency of such artificial systems. The study may be useful as a basis of engineering a more efficient artificial wetland systems for the removal of emerging pollutants.		
Methodology:	The thesis is comprised by primary and secondary research with the former being a laboratory-scale vertical flow constructed wetlands that will assess the effectiveness of different substrates upon the removal of ibuprofen. An experiment will be built to collect data on a number of factors including presence of different substrates, plants as well arbuscular mycorrhiza. The theoretical portion of the thesis utilizes knowledge gained from academic research articles pertaining to the problematics of constructed wetland, emerging pollutants, PCPPs etc.		
The proposed extent of the thesis:	50		
Keywords:	constructed wetland, emerging pollutants, pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs), substrates, Arbuscular mycorrhiza (AMF), removal efficiency, pollutant degradation		

Recommended information sources:

- Ávila, Cristina, Jaime Nivala, Linda Olsson, Kinfe Kassa, Tom Headley, Roland A. Mueller, Josep Maria Bayona, and Joan García. 2014. "Emerging Organic Contaminants in Vertical Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetlands: Influence of Media Size, Loading Frequency and Use of Active Aeration." Science of the Total Environment 494–495:211–17.
- 2. Cleuvers, Michael. 2004. "Mixture Toxicity of the Anti-Inflammatory Drugs Diclofenac, Ibuprofen, Naproxen, and Acetylsalicylic Acid." Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 59(3):309–15.
- 3. Ebele, Anekwe Jennifer, Mohamed Abou-Elwafa Abdallah, and Stuart Harrad. 2017. "Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products (PPCPs) in the Freshwater Aquatic Environment." Emerging Contaminants 3(1):1–16.
- 4. Fester, Thomas, Julia Giebler, Lukas Y. Wick, and Matthias Kä. 2014. "Plant-Microbe Interactions as Drivers of Ecosystem Functions Relevant for the Biodegradation of Organic Contaminants." Current Opinion in Biotechnology 27:168–75.
- 5. Gupta, Prabuddha, Tae Woong Ann, and Seung Mok Lee. 2016. "Use of Biochar to Enhance Constructed Wetland Performance in Wastewater Reclamation." Environmental Engineering Research 21(1):36–44.
- Hijosa-Valsero, María, Víctor Matamoros, Ricardo Sidrach-Cardona, Javier Martín-Villacorta, Eloy Bécares, and Josep M. Bayona. 2010. "Comprehensive Assessment of the Design Configuration of Constructed Wetlands for the Removal of Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products from Urban Wastewaters." Water Research 44(12):3669–78.
- Matamoros, Víctor and Josep M. Bayona. 2006. "Elimination of Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetlands." Environmental Science and Technology 40(18):5811– 16.
- Verlicchi, Paola and Elena Zambello. 2014. "How Efficient Are Constructed Wetlands in Removing Pharmaceuticals from Untreated and Treated Urban Wastewaters? A Review." Science of the Total Environment 470–471:1281–1306.
- 9. Vymazal, Jan. 2005. "Horizontal Sub-Surface Flow and Hybrid Constructed Wetlands Systems for Wastewater Treatment." Pp. 478–90 in Ecological Engineering. Vol. 25.
- Xu, Zhouying, Yang Wu, Yinghe Jiang, Xiangling Zhang, Junli Li, and Yihui Ban. 2018. "Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Two Vertical-Flow Wetlands Constructed for Heavy Metal-Contaminated Wastewater Bioremediation." Environmental Science and Pollution Research 25(13):12830–40.

Expected date of thesis 2019/20 SS - FES defence:

Electronically approved: 6. 2. 2020 **prof. Ing. Jan Vymazal, CSc.** Head of department

Electronically approved: 11. 2. 2020 prof. RNDr. Vladimír Bejček, CSc. Dean

Recognition

I would like to thank doc. Zhongbing Chen for the consultations necessary to begin and elaborate this thesis and for comments on the submitted work after its writing. My thanks also belong to Ph.D. candidate Bo Hu for his valuable advice, willingness and patience which he provided during the process of writing this thesis.

Declaration

I declare that I am the sole author of this master's thesis, and that I have cited all used information sources and literature. This work or its parts have not been submitted for another academic degree

In Prague, 2020

Signature:

Abstract

Pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) have become an ever-increasing concern as emerging pollutants due to their extensive use and release into the environment. Even at trace-level concentrations, pharmaceuticals such ibuprofen may cause subtle, yet significant effects which cause chronic aberrations to the balance of natural water ecosystems. The use of artificial plant-based systems such as constructed wetlands has been successfully engineered to treat wastewater, acting as a biological filter removing PPCPs and other organic compounds. Laboratory scale constructed wetlands consisting of 24 reactors has been developed to examine the effects of different substrates and symbiotic arbuscular mycorrhiza on the removal of ibuprofen and organic compounds. The experiment achieved a 65,71 - 76,48% removal efficiency for ibuprofen using a sand only substrate while 83,59 - 88,58% using perlite, 85,72 - 91,42% for vermiculite and a 99,96 - 99,98% removal efficiency using biochar. These results determine that the use of various different types of substrates not only affects removal rate of pollutants, but also influences numerous mechanical, chemical and biological processes within the CWs rhizosphere. The study may be useful as a basis of engineering a more efficient artificial wetlands systems for the removal of emerging pollutants.

Key words: constructed wetlands, emerging pollutants, pharmaceutical and personal care products, substrates, arbuscular mycorrhiza, removal efficiency

Abstrakt

Farmaceutické výrobky a výrobky pro osobní péči (PPCPs) se stávají stále více znepokojujícími látkami, které znečišťují přírodní ekosystémy. A to především kvůli jejich rozsáhlému užívání a následnému uvolňování do životního prostředí. I při nízkých koncentracích mohou tyto látky, například ibuprofen, vyvolat výrazné účinky, které dlouhodobě narušují přirozené vodní ekosystémy. Artificiální čistící systémy, jako jsou vybudované mokřady, působí jako biologický filtr a úspěšně čistí odpadní vody. Odstraňující také řadu znečišťujících látek, jako ibuprofen a jiné organické sloučeniny. V rámci této práce byly vyvinuty umělé mokřady skládající se z 24 reaktorů. Ty zkoumaly účinky různých substrátů a symbiotické arbuskulární mykorhizy pro odstranění ibuprofenu a organických sloučenin. Experiment dosáhl 65,71 - 76,48% účinnosti odstraňování ibuprofenu použitím pískového substrátu, 83,59 - 88,58% účinnosti použitím perlitu, 85,72 - 91,42% účinnosti pro vermikulit a 99,96 - 99, 98% účinnosti při odstraňování pomocí biouhlí. Výsledky stanovují, že použití různých typů substrátu ovlivňuje nejen rychlost odstraňování znečišťujících látek, ale také ovlivňuje četné mechanické, chemické a biologické procesy v rizosféře umělých mokřadů. Tato studie může být užitečná jako základ pro konstrukci účinnějších systémů umělých mokřadů pro odstraňování znečišť ujících látek.

Klíčová slova: uměle vybudované mokřady, znečišťující látky, farmaceutické a osobní výrobky, substráty, arbuskulární mykorhiza, účinnost odstraňovaní

Abbreviations

PPCP - Pharmaceutical and Personal Care Products CW - Constructed Wetlands EC – Emerging Pollutant AMF – Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi H-SSF – Horizontal Subsurface Flow V-SSF Vertical Subsurface Flow TC – Total Carbon TOC – Total Organic Carbon IC – Inorganic Carbon TN - Total Nitrogen UV - Ultra-Violet PS - Plant + SandPSA - Plant + Sand + AMFPP – Plant + Perlite PPA - Plant + Perlite + AMF PV- Plant + Vermiculite PVA - Plant + Vermiculite + AMF PB – Plant + Biochar PBA - Plant + Biochar + AMF WWTPs – Wastewater Treatment Plants

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Literature Research	2
2.1 Pharmaceutical and Personal Care Products (PPCPs)	2
2.2 Ecotoxicity of PPCPs	3
2.2 Ibuprofen	4
2.3 Constructed Wetlands	5
2.4 Role and Efficacy of Substrates in CWs	8
2.5 Pollutant Removal Pathways	11
2.5.1 Photodegradation	12
2.5.2 Sorption Processes	12
2.5.3 Plant uptake and Phytodegradation	
2.5.4 Microbial Degradation	14
2.6 Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi	16
3. Objectives	20
4. Methods and Materials	21
5. Results and Discussion	26
5.1 Plant Biomass	26
5.2 AMF Colonization	
5.3 Ibuprofen Removal	31
5.4 Total Carbon Removal	34
5.5 Nitrogen Removal	
5.6 Phosphate Removal	44
5.7 Sulphate Removal	47
6. Conclusion	51
7. Bibliography	52

1. Introduction

The onset of the modern and industrialized age has seen substantial innovations at unprecedented rates in the fields of medicine as well as cosmetics, which has led to the widespread use of pharmaceuticals and personal care products also known as PPCPs. However, this has become a problem of great concern as the introduction of numerous contaminants in large quantities into the environment affects organisms including humans throughout all trophic levels (Nguyen et al. 2019). These emerging contaminants are comprised of prescription and non-prescription drugs, hormones, narcotics as well as cosmetic products and their subsequent metabolites and conjugates which undergo modifications when released into the environment (Daughton and Ternes 1999). Municipal wastewaters are among the primary sources of pollutants such as PPCPs because they are dispelled directly into the sewer system following human consumption and use (Kim et al. 2007; Hijosa-Valsero et al. 2010). However, most wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) have not been devised for eliminating PPCPs. Consequently, numerous of these substances are released into surrounding surface waters where they can have profound and unpredictable ecotoxicological effects despite low concentrations, due to the sheer amount of compounds and biologically active combinations present (Ternes et al. 2004; Joss et al. 2006).

Constructed wetlands (CWs) have been proposed as an ecological alternative to the treatment and removal of PPCPs from the environment, but the precise mechanisms by which these emerging contaminants are eradicated remains understudied (Matamoros et al. 2008; Hijosa-Valsero et al. 2010). The simultaneous existence of many micro-environments within constructed wetlands gives rise to diverse microbiological communities, which are able to remove emerging pollutants, and offer a solution to PPCP degradation through multiple metabolic pathways depending on the physical and chemical design specifications of constructed wetland systems (Imfeld et al. 2009). Although CWs were found successful in removing some PPCPs, the most effective design of CW parameters has not been established (Matamoros and Bayona 2006). The use of different substrates is a key element that may increase or decrease CWs efficiency in removing PPCPs. The purpose of this thesis is to examine the role of substrates within constructed wetlands in the removal of ibuprofen, a pharmaceutical product of widespread international use.

2. Literature Research

2.1 Pharmaceutical and Personal Care Products (PPCPs)

Currently, more than hundreds of pharmaceutical products have been detected in surface waters all over the world (Hughes et al. 2013). As an example, the United States alone released more than seventy million prescriptions of the pharmaceutical metformin in 2014, which has led to widespread contamination of water resources that includes tap water at concentrations surpassing fifty percent of the permitted limit proposed by the Rhine River Basin agency (Trautwein et al. 2014). The rate at which PPCPs are released into the environment is rising ever faster, as the use and sales of these substances surges by more than five percent every year (Nguyen et al. 2019). Because many emerging pollutants can persist in the environment for many years following discharge, their ongoing accumulation poses a challenge in sustaining healthy ecosystems. Their presence is even more disturbing due to the fact that many of these contaminants do not appear in the environment exclusively, but as a compound complex that may have synergistic effects raising toxicological distress (Pal et al. 2010). The pervasiveness of numerous potentially poisonous pollutants in the environment demonstrates the demand for a better understanding of their persistence, fate and ecological impact (Petrie et al. 2014).



Figure 1 - Dominant pathways of pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) in the environment (Nguyen et al. 2019)

Emerging contaminants such as PPCPs have been found throughout the entire water cycle including drinking water sources, wastewater treatment plant effluents, agricultural and landfill runoff which collects in rivers and streams (Kim et al. 2007; Anawar et al. 2019) as can be seen in **Figure 1**. Although PPCPs have been found to occur in low concentrations ranging from only parts per trillion to low parts per billion (Heberer et al. 2002; Jiang et al. 2013; Ternes et al. 2004; Anawar et al. 2019) conventional wastewater treatment techniques are not effective in entirely eliminating these pollutants (Matamoros et al. 2008; Anawar et al. 2019). A number of secondary and tertiary treatment techniques have been utilized to remove emerging contaminants such as ozonation, advanced chemical oxidation as well as UV radiation (Kim et al. 2009; Liu et al. 2009; Rosal et al. 2010). However, these methods proved to be ultimately ineffective on a wide-use scale due to their high operational and maintenance costs, especially in rural and remote regions.

2.2 Ecotoxicity of PPCPs

As was previously mentioned, PPCP compounds discharged into the environment may have harmful ecotoxicological effects to organisms across the food web. Even though concentrations of specific contaminants may exist in concentrations that are too low to cause damage by themselves, most PPCPs found in ecosystems co-exist as compound mixtures, purportedly reducing biological diversity among macroinvertebrates in rivers, causing declines in fish populations, and reportedly cause physiological stress in freshwater mollusks (Matamoros et al. 2017; Gillis et al. 2014).

Specific examples of stronger toxic effects of PPCPs have been reported by a study done on *Daphnia magna* when exposed to a compound mixture of carbamazepine, diclofenac, and ibuprofen simultaneously (Cleuvers et al. 2004). Moreover, a study by Cleuvers et al. 2004, revealed significant acute toxicity for a mixture of pharmaceuticals diclofenac, ibuprofen, naproxen and aspirin at the same concentrations whilst these pollutants did not cause severe toxicity by themselves. Although chronic toxicity due to PPCPs may be more likely to consider because of the continuous discharge of these compounds into the environment, it is essential to evaluate the chronic impact of PPCP mixtures at environmentally relevant concentrations (McEachran et al. 2016). However, this has brought about its own set of challenges, as it is very problematic to determine subtle chronic toxicological effects in comparison to more acute toxicity such as mobility impairment or mortality which a more readily measurable.

Nonetheless, a growing amount of analyses that assess the chronic impact of emerging contaminant compounds have found significant effects (Petrie et al. 2014). The toxicity linked to PPCPs poses detrimental effects to prey and predators alike as it penetrates all trophic levels in the food web. For instance, the white-backed vulture's (*Gyps africanus*) decline in population by about 95% was found to be correlated to renal failure due to diclofenac, an anti-inflammatory drug that is widely used as a veterinary drug in livestock on which vultures feed upon (Oaks et al. 2004). These examples indicate that PPCPs have the potential to directly and indirectly affect species' physiology and survival.

2.2 Ibuprofen



Figure 2 - Chemical structure of ibuprofen (Matamoros et al. 2005)

Ibuprofen a non-steroidal, anti-inflammatory, analgesic and antipyretic drug (**Figure 2**) has been chosen as the compound of interest in this study as it is one of the most widely used and well-studied PPCPs all across the world (Ferrando-Climent et al. 2012). Ibuprofen is able to enter the aquatic environment due to incomplete metabolization in humans. Every year, hundreds of tons of ibuprofen are discharged into ecosystems all over the world, and conventional wastewater treatment methods are able to remove the pharmaceutical with about seventy percent efficiency (Oulton et al. 2010). Furthermore, analysis of the relative contribution of the aerobic and anaerobic pathways in the degradation of ibuprofen suggests that aerobic degradation pathways play the dominant role (Matamoros et al. 2008).

Although ibuprofen may pose acute toxicity to aquatic organisms at environmentally relevant concentrations, it is suggested in relevance to other PPCPs, that damage caused by chronic, continuous exposure due to continual release into the environment plays a much more significant role and could pose long-term ecological effects (Ferrando-Climent et al. 2012). As an example, an investigation on the effects of ibuprofen on the expression of CYP360A, CYP314, and GST genes in *Daphnia magna* which are involved in the detoxification process exposed chronic ibuprofen exposure significantly deceased development and reproduction of

the species, including decreases in the number of eggs produced and reductions in body length (Wang et al. 2016).

To further exemplify ibuprofen's ability to impair development in aquatic organisms, Veldhoen et al. 2014 found that ibuprofen acted as a disruptor of endocrine mediated postembryonic development in the North American Bullfrog (*Rana catesbeiana*). David and Pancharatna 2009, conducting a study on the development of Zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) found that developing embryos tolerated lower doses of ibuprofen, but when exposed to higher doses, the fish exhibited "retarded development, decreased hatching rate and growth, cardiac anomalies, spinal curvature, pectoral fin malformation as well as behavioral alterations resulting in greater mortality of experimental embryos" (David and Pancharatna 2009). As with other PPCPs, ibuprofen metabolites such as hydroxyibuprofen and carboxyibuprofen which are products of ibuprofen degradation are also frequently detected in the environment, and have also been found to occur at higher concentrations than their parent substances with carboxyibuprofen being even more concentrated than ibuprofen in influent samples (Weigel et al. 2004).

2.3 Constructed Wetlands

Due to the costly nature of the aforementioned methods of water treatment, alternative, widespread, and low-cost technologies such as constructed wetlands (CWs) present a suitable complementary for wastewater treatment and recycling. Constructed wetlands usage has increased in recent times as they are simple to operate and maintain, have a small ecological impact producing low waste, and are able to be naturally implemented into existing landscapes (Ávila et al. 2014). The removal of emerging contaminants in CWs ensues as an effect of complex physical, chemical and microbial interactions. The rates and efficiency at which CWs remove PPCPs depends on a multitude of factors including and not limited to the design of CWs such as bed depth, choice of substrates, hydraulic and organic loading times, and aeration (Paola Verlicchi and Zambello 2014). The efficiency of CWs is often times decreased as the construction design does not take into account all of the parameters mentioned above (Ávila et al. 2013). Also, as many of the various PPCPs leeching into ecosystems undergo chemical changes with new properties, these compounds can also interact with one another as well as with biotic and abiotic factors in the environment, resulting in new metabolites, that may be bioactive or constant in the environment. PPCP metabolites resist microbial degradation and their presence is of even more concern than the parent compounds due to their toxicity and

stability (Ávila et al. 2013; Ebele et al. 2017). Furthermore, additional attention should be paid to metabolites produced in the degradation pathway of emerging organic contaminants, so as to get a better insight of the major processes involved in their removal (Ávila et al. 2013; Ebele et al. 2017).

Constructed wetlands may be utilized to successfully treat wastewater influent acting as a primary, secondary or tertiary treatment step depending on design parameters as is represented by **Figure 3**. CWs were found to have the highest efficiency as secondary and tertiary treatment steps essential for water recycling, and are currently widely utilized for the treatment of wastewater and industrial effluents (Rousseau et al. 2008; Anawar et al. 2019).



Figure 3 – Constructed wetlands as primary, secondary and tertiary treatment steps (Paola Verlicchi and Zambello 2014)

Principal constituents of CWs consist of water, a wetland plant species, choice of substrate and a natural microorganism environment. Literature describes many different CW design optimizations. Constructed wetlands have conventionally been categorized into two main types, surface flow and subsurface flow depending on the flow of water. In surface flow CWs, water flows above the surface in comparison to subsurface flow CWs in which water flows below the top layer of ground decreasing potential exposure (Halverson and Nancy 2004). Additionally, subsurface flow CWs are further divided into horizontal subsurface flow and vertical subsurface flow, contingent on the hydraulic regime as is represented by **Figure 4** (Fonder and Headley 2013; Ávila et al. 2014). A study conducted by Matamoros and Bayona conducted in 2006, revealed that horizontal subsurface flow CWs that have a shallow bed achieved better results than CWs with a deeper bed due to a higher oxidation potential, as a high redox status of CWs has been linked to an enhancement in removal efficiency of emerging contaminants (Matamoros and Bayona 2006).



Figure 4 – Conventional types of constructed wetlands (Paola Verlicchi and Zambello 2014)

It has been suggested that the dominance of high redox potentials in wastewater treatment techniques supports aerobic respiration which has a higher rate of pollutant removal than degradation pathways relying on anaerobic pathways (Onesios et al. 2009). Limitation of subsurface oxygen availability is one of the main factors that limit conventional horizontal subsurface flow (H-SSF) wetland specifications, and thus, unsaturated vertical flow (V-SSF) wetlands have been developed to counter this limitation and increase oxygen accessibility, which is improved by the design parameters and operating conditions (Vymazal 2005; Torrens et al. 2009; Nivala et al. 2019). Another study conducted by Matamoros et al. 2007 also reported improved function of vertical flow CWs in comparison to horizontal flow CWs owing to higher redox conditions that have been promoted by the unsaturated operational mode of the vertical beds. More compact in design than horizontal flow CWs, unsaturated vertical flow CWs treating municipal sewage waters are able to absorb greater volumes of contaminant loads (Vymazal 2005; Cooper 2005). Pollutant removal efficiency depends entirely on the design of CWs, including parameters such as type of wetland configuration employed, choice of soil, and substrate matrix including its depth, and the operational mode of influent loading times whether they be batch or continuous (Zhang et al. 2014). It has been shown that alternating phases of saturation and unsaturation promoted oxygen availability compared to functioning under continuously saturated conditions, which in effect considerably increased the removal of pollutants (Ávila et al. 2013). Therefore, operation of CWs in cycles alternating between saturation and unsaturation enhances the treatment influent.

For example, use of alternating loading times may offset unavailability of a particular substrate to increase efficiency. In regions where sand substrates may not be available, employment of gravel substrates with lower hydraulic loading rates should be proficient at achieving adequate treatment (Ávila et al. 2014). Furthermore, the use of alternating loading times actually allows for the coexistence of multiple microenvironments where aerobic and anaerobic degradation pathways take place, resulting in the improved removal of variable pollutant compounds (Matamoros et al. 2008). Additionally, although the loading frequency rate of hourly vs. bi-hourly did not affect elimination of contaminants in CWs, lower redox values have been observed in the effluent from bi-hourly CWs, which in the study by Ávila et al. 2014, significantly affected the removal of contaminants diclofenac, tonalide and bisphenol. Decreasing the loading frequency resulted in a higher velocity, and pulse of the permeating water which decreased contact time and redox rates which resulted in lower treatment efficiencies of tonalide and bisphenol. On the other hand, the removal efficiency of diclofenac actually increased in less oxidized CWs (Ávila et al. 2014).

The efficiency of CWs at removing emerging contaminants also depends on the species of plants chosen for the particular design because plants and their roots play a crucial role in the uptake of nutrients, absorption of contaminants, production and release of root exudes which aid in the decontamination process, oxygenate the soil matrix and provide an ideal environment for the growth of microbial communities and symbiotic arbuscular mycorrhiza, and thus assist in elimination of PPCPs (Zhang et al. 2014). An experiment performed by Hijosa-Valsero et al. 2010 that assessed design specifications of seven different CW configurations showed that the presence of plants greatly improved the efficiency of PPCP removal including ibuprofen, which further exemplified the importance of highly oxygenated conditions in CW for the removal of ibuprofen. Seasonal variability was also detected as a factor which improved efficiency especially in summer months indicating that a biological processes have been collectively deemed as the most significant pathway by which PPCPs are eliminated (Hijosa-Valsero et al. 2010).

2.4 Role and Efficacy of Substrates in CWs

Substrates in constructed wetlands have a central role in the growth and expansion of plants and microbial communities in the rhizosphere, while also offering physical support to plants and providing an environment where roots, microbes and organic matter can directly interact with PPCPs through mechanical and chemical processes. An appropriate selection of substrates is an essential aspect in the optimization of CWs as the interactions in the microenvironment of CWs directly influence the performance and efficiency of pollutant removal (Dordio et al. 2009). Therefore, finding an optimal, cost-effective substrate that not only supports development of plants and microbes, but also successfully aids in the removal of pollutants is a critical issue that may either increase or decrease the efficiency of the entire microenvironment. Physical characteristics of substrates including surface area, particle size, porosity, hydraulic retention time, electrical conductivity along with biological and chemical properties such as charge, toxicity, and chemical stability of electron donors and acceptors must be assessed to determine CW effectiveness in removing pollutants (Yang et al. 2018). Particle size of substrates is a defining factor accounting for their porosity and hydraulic characteristics and the porosity (Yang et al. 2018). Substrates may be categorized by their origin as natural, artificial, and industrial by-products. Natural and most traditionally employed substrates include gravel and sand because of their relative low-cost, accessibility, abundance and retention abilities for organic contaminants such as nitrogen and phosphorus (Arroyo et al. 2013; Yang et al. 2018). For example, a study by Allende et al. 2012 determined that substrate type was a main factor that affected the removal efficiency of As and Fe from acidic water.

However, as conventional substrates do not provide a carbon source, they limit biological degradation pathways such as denitrification. This may be remediated by the use artificial or emerging substrates such as perlite, vermiculite and biochar as they achieve an increased removal efficiency of pollutants while being cost-effective without producing waste by-products (Yang et al. 2018). Vermiculite has been assessed by studies for its properties as an adsorbent of organic compound pollutant in part for its wide particle distribution and high relative porosity resulting in high hydraulic conductivity a water retention (Abate and Masini 2005; Dordio et al. 2009). Emerging substrates may be further characterized based on the major pathways for contaminant removal, such as substrates with high P sorption, carbon rich substrates and denitrification substrates efficient in removing N (Yang et al. 2018). These characteristics are important for targeted PPCP removal as different pollutants in CWs have their own preferred removal pathways. Furthermore, the type of substrates employed in CWs have a considerable effect on microbial community structure, diversity and richness as determined by studies that used Illumina high-throughput sequencing to expose changes in microbial community structure between CWs using gravel, steel slag and zeolite substrates (Ghannad et al. 2015; Long et al. 2016).

This relationship is further exemplified in a study conducted by Ávila et al. 2014 in which unsaturated wetlands that used sand as a substrate attained considerably greater efficiency in eliminating wastewater pollutants than CWs that had gravel as its substrate. Furthermore, not only were wastewater pollutants removed, but most of the emerging organic contaminants have been removed as well including ibuprofen among other PPCPs due to increased aeration and oxygen availability, which has been shown to increase redox rates, and thus, promote elimination of substances whose removal is mainly dependent on aerobic degradation pathways (Ávila et al. 2014). The choice of a specific substrate can also influence mechanisms by which specific pollutants are removed. In the same study, sand based CWs removed hydrophobic compounds, mainly removed by sorption, more efficiently than gravel-based systems (Ávila et al. 2014)

Biochar, a carbon-rich organic constituent produced as a result of pyrolysis, a method by which materials are broken down as a result of very high temperatures in an inert environment, may be utilized as a simple, effective, and low cost substrate to treat water, remove organic compounds and toxins to provide a suitable medium for microorganisms within CWs (Gupta et al. 2016). Biochar is able to function in a number of ways which include improving soil quality through retention of fertilizers, encouraging growth of symbiotic and valuable microbes while also remediating organic and inorganic pollutants (Liang et al. 2006; Warnock et al. 2007; Marschner et al. 2013). Furthermore, as a result of its porous structure, biochar is also effective in the adsorption of heavy metals, especially in aquatic based systems (Zhengang Liu and Zhang 2009). Biochar, has been previously employed in studies as a sorbent for soil immobilization and removal of the contaminants naphthalene, nitrobenzene and mdinitrobenzene (Chen et al. 2008). In other studies, substrates with added biochar of varying proportions in CWs were able to remove organic compounds more effectively, and shown to immobilize toxic heavy metals respectively (Rozari et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2013).

A study by Gupta et al. 2016 evaluated the efficiency of biochar as substrate in order to test whether the combined use of biochar as a medium along with CWs improved removal of organic compounds. The study used a horizontal subsurface wetland design with biochar and gravel as a comparison, and was cultivated with *Canna* species plants. Synthetic wastewater flowed through the system, and pollutant removal performance was compared between the controlled (gravel) and experimental (biochar) CWs (Gupta et al. 2016). This study revealed that CWs with biochar were more efficient as compared to CWs with gravel alone in reducing overall organic and inorganic pollutants (Gupta et al. 2016). Also, the removal of contaminants in biochar based CWs depended on a number of factors including adsorption, precipitation, filtration, sedimentation, microbial degradation, and plant uptake as was reported in CWs using other types of substrates. Finally, this study indicated that CWs enriched with biochar are specifically successful at remediating wastewater as a secondary treatment step (Gupta et al. 2016). Although biochar has been successfully shown to be capable of remediation, research is preliminary and more investigation with a more rigorous methodology is needed. Meanwhile, biochar provides an ecological and cost-effective wastewater treatment substrate option.

2.5 Pollutant Removal Pathways

Within the microenvironment of constructed wetlands transpires a number of complex metabolic interplays, and these interactions are one of the main reasons why the design of CWs including substrate choice is a decisive parameter. **Figure 5** illustrates a number of pollutant and organic compound removal mechanisms existing within CWs, including plant uptake and phytoremediation, photodegradation, microbial degradation as well as sedimentation, adsorption and precipitation of emerging contaminants.





2.5.1 Photodegradation

Photolytic degradation has been described as the dominant removal pathway for certain emerging contaminants (Buser et al. 1998). The efficiency by which ECs are removed by photolytic degradation in aquatic systems depends on several factors including sunlight accessibility, which goes hand in hand with seasonal differences as sunlight, essential for photolysis, light intensity and the reduction of light caused by deeper water depth (Buser et al. 1998). For example, sunlight's interaction with the soil matrix can result in number of photochemical reactions and photodegradation pathways which include hydrolysis, oxidation and reduction to name a few (Maldonado-Torres et al. 2018). The importance of photodegradation in the removal of PPCPs is demonstrated by a study performed by Maldonado-Torres et al. 2018 which examined the photodegradation of ibuprofen. The study found that in a dark setting without a ready access to sunlight, there was about a 10% loss of the initial concentration of ibuprofen (attributed to adsorption) after more than 10 days. However, under sunlit conditions, photodegradation pathways including photolysis, ibuprofen displayed total transformation into secondary compounds, highlighting the significance of photodegradation pathways of PPCPs (Maldonado-Torres et al. 2018).

2.5.2 Sorption Processes

Because many suspended particle compounds, including pollutants from wastewater are retained in the substrate beds of CWs, a significant mechanism of pollutant removal may be through sorption of "soil, organic carbon, mineral surfaces and biofilms coating the gravel bed" (Zhang et al. 2014). PPCPs in CWs are influenced by their adsorption capacity to soil and sediment. Adsorption causes an effect on the distribution of dissolved substances between water and the solid surface, which subsequently affects their mobility in the aqueous environment, and regulates their eventual fate (Bui and Choi 2010). An understanding of a pharmaceutical compound's ability to be adsorbed by various media to solids is an important, if not a critical aspect determining pollutant's fate and their potential to be removed by CW mechanisms (Zhang et al. 2014).

Most organic chemicals have adsorption capabilities at least to some extent, and highly hydrophobic pollutants that persist may have great potential to be adsorbed in CWs (Matamoros et al. 2008; Zhang et al. 2014). Hydrophobic compounds are easily adsorbed onto organic matter present in CWs, and are thus less likely to be degraded which results in their excessive accumulation in CWs beds. In comparison, hydrophilic contaminants are removed

much more easily according to their specific physio-chemical characteristics (Rosal et al. 2010). Interactions between aliphatic and aromatic groups in the structure of a contaminant with the lipophilic cell membrane of microorganisms, or the lipid fractions of the suspended solids may be some of the hydrophobic interactions that cause pollutants to be adsorbed (Verlicchi et al. 2012). Many previous studies have suggested that the relatively high level of PPCPs adsorbed to substrate in CWs may be attributed to their hydrophobic character (Zhang et al. 2014)

2.5.3 Plant uptake and Phytodegradation

The ability of plants to directly uptake, accumulate and effectively translocate contaminants is considered an important mechanism for pollutant removal known as phytoremediation (Collins et al. 2006). Phytoremediation has been employed as an effective and ecological technique that simulates the functions of natural wetlands as ecosystem remediators. Predominantly, it aims to employ the complex potential interactions among water, substrates, plants, microbes and the atmosphere to remove ECs through the constructed wetlands (Nguyen et al. 2019). Phytotoxicity in plants is countered by various cellular detoxification mechanisms. The direct uptake and absorption of PPCPs and other emerging contaminants by plants and phytoremediation processes that take place have only recently been extensively studied (Zhang et al. 2014). Available data on PPCP uptake and ensuing assimilation is limited as most studies have focused on only a few pharmaceutical compounds and species of plants. Furthermore, most studies on plant uptake of pharmaceuticals have been done in controlled hydroponic solutions, rather than more relevant field scale experiments, so the basic mechanisms involved in plant uptake of PPCPs remain poorly understood (Redshaw et al. 2008). Following plant uptake, organic contaminants may be partially or completely degraded, metabolized, or transformed to different compounds that become bound to plant tissue (Salt et al. 1998).

Complete phytodegradation through mineralization of organic pollutants has been observed in macrophyte aquatic plants (Susarla et al. 2002). Enzymes within plants interact with micro-organic compounds and are able to either degrade them completely to inorganic compounds such as CO₂, H₂O, and Cl₂, or partially degrade pollutants into stable intermediates, which become bound and stored in the plants (Susarla et al. 2002). However, because PPCP uptake by plants is relatively understudied, potential toxicity of the intermediate products which are produced by the plants' enzymes and metabolism must be considered when designing CW, and it remains an essential aspect in developing phytoremediation strategies (Zhang et al. 2014). Another characteristic to consider is that removal efficiencies of PPCPs by phytoremediation processes vary in different CWs acting as a primary, secondary, or tertiary treatment system (Verlicchi and Zambello 2014). For example, experiments that utilized constructed wetlands as a primary treatment of pollutants, 98% of several PPCPs have been successfully removed from the influent including caffeine with over 99.9% efficiency, acetaminophen with a 99.98 efficiency, ibuprofen with a 99.6% removal efficiency, naproxen at 99.4%, and finally, triclosan which was removed with a 98% efficiency (Verlicchi and Zambello 2014). These numbers demonstrate the proficiency by which CW are able to remove PPCPs among other emerging contaminants. CWs that performed as a secondary treatment step were able to remove various PPCPs such as like salicylic acid, sulfadimethoxine, and caffeine with an efficiency greater than 75%, while poor treatment performance with less than 25% efficiency was observed for other PPCPs that included clarithromycin, gemfibrozil, sotalol, sulfamethoxazole, sulfapyridine, triclocarban, and triclosan (Verlicchi and Zambello 2014). Finally, CWs operating as a tertiary treatment displayed peak removal efficiencies which were above 75% for the PPCPs diclofenac, verapamil, furosemide, and alfuzosin while other PPCPs that comprised of salicylic acid, carbamazepine, and sotalol, exhibited very low removal efficiencies below 25% (Verlicchi and Zambello 2014). These varying results in removal efficiencies suggest that CWs effectiveness at removing pollutants by phytoremediation varies among CWs acting as a primary, secondary or tertiary treatment.

2.5.4 Microbial Degradation

While phytoremediation is efficient, ecological and cost-effective in removing organic contaminants including PPCPs, the very presence of pollutants in the plants' rhizosphere has a negative effect on their growth, metabolism and consequently, their efficiency at removing pollutants as PPCPs (Carvalho et al. 2014; Gerhardt et al. 2009). This drawback may be countered by applying relevant microenvironments through microbial interactions, and the synergetic nature between plants and microbes which include symbiotic arbuscular mycorrhiza. It has been proposed that microbial degradation pathways are the dominant processes by which pollutants are removed (Vo et al. 2018). Prokaryotic and eukaryotic microorganisms including bacteria and arbuscular mycorrhiza use organic compounds such as carbon as an energy source, and are able to metabolize them in the "presence of suitable growth substrates" (Fester et al. 2014). Carbon originating from plant root exudates initiates these metabolic processes as pollutants in the soil serve as electron donors, and thus, they become

oxidized under both aerobic and anaerobic circumstances. The presence of numerous electron acceptors other than oxygen in the substrate microenvironment can enable anaerobic respiration processes (Fester et al. 2014). Several aerobic and anaerobic removal pathways such as denitrification and nitrification in the rhizosphere have been identified having great potential to either transform organic compounds, or increase contaminant removal (Saeed and Sun 2012). Furthermore, microbial communities have been recognized for their efficacy in removing organic carbon (OC), along with the reduction of sulphate which may also play an important function in the removal of OC (Faulwetter et al. 2009). Microbial transformation pathways have been shown to be the dominant methods by which the greater part of total nitrogen (TN) is removed (Faulwetter et al. 2009). This demonstrates that the cycling and transformation of carbon, nitrogen and sulphur is centered around the microbial environment and processes within it. PPCP removal by microbial degradation can further be subcategorized by the mechanism by which they are removed being mineralization, conversion to hydrophobic compounds, or to more hydrophilic compounds (Onesios et al. 2009; Vo et al. 2018). Transformation of compounds including PPCPs leads to a decrease in their toxicity as well as increased and degradation can decrease toxicity and increase in their water solubility (Faulwetter et al. 2009; Vo et al. 2018).

Microbial community structure and the ensuing degradation pathways can further be enhanced by altering operational parameters of CWs such as temperature, pH, hydraulic retention time and the types microbial species present in the system. This also further signifies the importance of redox potential in CWs and the importance of utilizing various substrates with diverse properties. The simultaneous presence of aerobic and anaerobic zones within the differing substrates means that multiple microbial communities and consequently multiple degradation pathways can successfully coexist within one CW system increasing its total remediation capacity. Aerobic degradation pathways such as nitrification require an oxidized microenvironment with a high redox potential, while anaerobic processes such as denitrification and sulphate reduction need lower redox potential and reduced microenvironment (Faulwetter et al. 2009). For example, the removal efficiency of the PPCPs naproxen and diclofenac increased in an anaerobic microenvironment, while aerobic conditions increased the removal rates of bisphenol and ibuprofen (Ávila et al. 2010; Vo et al. 2018). This means that a CW system can be engineered to treat wastewater within a range of multiple redox potential favoring multiple degradation pathways and pollutants, or on the contrary, be designed to remove specific pollutants utilizing microbial respiration processes within a restricted range of redox conditions (Onesios et al. 2009; Faulwetter et al. 2009).

This methodology improves the potential for phytoremediation and increases the remediation process efficiency (Rehman et al. 2018). The symbiotic relationship between plants and microbes takes advantage of plant growth promoting traits (PGPs), and pollutant degrading genes that either rhizobacteria or endophytic bacteria possess (Gerhardt et al. 2009). In reciprocation, plants provide the microbes with nutrients, minerals and environment in which they can proliferate. The microbes improve bioavailability of nutrients within with the microenvironment of plants' rhizosphere, and they are able to mineralize a variety of organic pollutants as well (Nguyen et al. 2019). The symbiotic nature of the relationships between plants and microbes have become an important aspect in studying CWs and the mechanisms by which emerging contaminants are removed as microbes and plants supplement each other's needs. Although promising, research regarding plant-microbe relationships is still in its infancy and will require further research to not only to better understand the relationships themselves, but also the ways that these interactions support the removal of PPCPs (Nguyen et al. 2019).

2.6 Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi

The presence of microorganisms in remediating CWs is increasingly regarded as an option that overcome weaknesses of plants (Fester et al. 2014). Arbuscular mycorrhiza (AMF) is a symbiotic relationship that is developed in the soil between the roots of plants and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi which penetrate cortical cells of plants located within the roots (Sarrazin et al. 2011; Smith and Read 2008). This special relationship is very beneficial for both organisms as plants provide the fungi with nutrients in the form of carbohydrates, and in return, the fungi stabilize substrate structure and provide essential minerals for the plants creating a hospitable microenvironment which directly and indirectly increases plants' tolerance of biotic and abiotic stress factors including heavy metals and emerging contaminants (Smith et al. 2010; Fester 2013).

An investigation analyzing AMF in the roots of *Phragmites australis* in two verticalflow CWs aimed at remediating polluted wastewater hypothesized that the fungi played a role in heavy metal removal (Xu et al. 2018). The results of the experiment showed that the fungi were tolerant of heavy metals, and that the second CW which was planted with *Phragmites australis* along with inoculating AMF "exhibited significantly higher Cd and Zn removal efficiencies than the first CW along with a different AMF community" (Xu et al. 2018). The study was limited however, due to a short time span, and more data was reported to be needed to analyze the role of AMF in enhancing heavy metal removal in CWs (Xu et al. 2018).

Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi can influence the circulation of contaminants within plants by selective transport and distribution (Debiane et al. 2009; Langer et al. 2010). It has been reported that AMF are able to reduce the concentration of pollutants in the shoots of plants by transporting them specifically to the rhizodermis where concentrations of pollutants have been shown to increase (Huang et al. 2007; Wu et al. 2009). The selected transport of contaminants may serve to protect the plant from damage caused by pollutants. Furthermore, not only do plants reap benefits from the effects of AMF, but reportedly so do microbes, notably bacteria which have the ability to degrade organic compounds (Corgié et al. 2006; Alarcón et al. 2008). Through both of these mechanisms, AMF can indirectly stimulate the rate by organic contaminants are degraded in the soil microenvironment (Fester 2013). Studies concerning the effects AMF on biodegradation of organic pollutants have shown that the symbiosis positively affected the removal of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons also known as (PAHs) by italian ryegrass (*Lolium multiflorum*) as well as the dissipation of PAHs by alfalfa (*Medicago sativa*) respectively (Yu et al. 2011; Zhou et al. 2009).

A study by Fester 2013 investigated the colonization of AMF in constructed wetlands contaminated with ammonia, benzene and, methyltert-butyl (MTBE) over the course of 4 years. The parameters of this design which can be seen in **Figure 6**. Samples of the plants' roots have shown that AMF successfully inhabited the CWs even under stressful conditions created by the pollutants at the inlet part of the basin (Fester 2013). Conversely, at the outlet part of the basin, no AMF colonization has been found exemplifying the importance of a solid substrate for AMF development (Fester 2013).



Figure 6 – Design parameters of CWs by Fester 2013 assessing AMF colonization under contaminated conditions

The growth of AMF and eventual treatment of water can be further supplemented using well thought-out CW design which includes the aeration of roots, intermittent influx of water using batch operation, and sewage backflow which increases oxygen availability (Li et al. 2011). For example, an experiment studying the development of *Glomus mosseae*, a species of AMF using various plant species demonstrated that a high colonization rate was observed using alternating aeration of two hours, four times a day (Hawkins and George 1997). Another study by Miller 2000 verified a higher rate of AMF colonization in CWs using alternating batch operation, and flooding conditions than that of those with continuous flooding in the root systems of wetland plant species *Panicum hemitomon* and *Leersia hexandra*. Although an appropriate level of water depth and mode of operation seems to improve AMF growth in CWs (Xu et al. 2016), establishment of AMF propagules was also witnessed in substrates immediately after an extended flooding period as demonstrated by (Wolfe et al. 2007). Besides choice of substrate and mode of operation, the level of abiotic factors such as nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P) in soil also seems to have a major role in AMF colonization and expansion in wetland plants (Wang et al. 2011).

For example, it has been suggested that in nitrogen rich environments, plants do not require nitrogen allocation from fungi resulting in a disproportionate relationship where the fungi request more energy sources, in the form of carbon (C), than the nutrients they provide for the plant (Blanke et al. 2005). Ultimately, the plants decreased the amount of donated carbon to fungi which resulted in decreased growth and colonization (Blanke et al. 2005). To further illustrate, a study by Confer and Niering 1992 that compared colonization of AMF in the roots of *Phragmites australis* and *Typha angustifolia* between natural wetlands and artificially constructed wetlands found that the development of fungi was greater in artificial CWs than natural wetlands due to decreased organic matter availability at the artificial sites.

Consequently, influent wastewater quality and amount of organic matter has a direct influence on AMF growth rate in wetland plant roots (Confer and Niering 1992). It is therefore important to investigate the role of abiotic factors in soil substrate to understand their role in the establishment of AMF-plant relationships in order to enhance CWs remediation capabilities (Xu et al. 2016). Based on these examples, arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi may serve as model co-inhabitants of technical installations such as constructed wetlands due to their potential to accelerate bioremediation of water contaminated by pollutants including PPCPs in disturbed areas (Hildebrandt et al. 2007; Meier et al. 2011; Fester et al. 2014). AMF have been found to be crucial for the health of plants in distressed areas. Nevertheless, the specific role of AMF in

bioremediation is understudied as constructed wetlands and other such installations are frequently fashioned without factoring for AMF, or even without a substantial amount of its propagules (Fester 2013). Also, the stressful conditions within the potentially contaminated substrates of constructed wetlands may hamper the development of AMF (Debiane et al. 2009; Fester 2013). However future studies must address the specific roles of AMF as studies regarding dissipation of pollutants rarely go beyond experimental installations "leaving the question of who is doing what largely unresolved" (Fester et al. 2014). Furthermore, remediation capacity of CWs enriched with AMF must be analyzed for potentially increasing the removal of emerging contaminants and to better optimize the CW ecosystem. (Xu et al. 2016).

Overall, bioremediation may well be regarded as the preferred method for the removal of pollutants including PPCPs. However, as evidenced in studies and literature, most approaches focus on single organisms or methods that do not take into account the vast amount of interplays that exist within the soil microenvironment. In the future, the effectiveness of bioremediation will depend on our understanding of the complete ecosystems found in natural and artificial constructed wetlands, with plant-microbial interactions at the forefront being of vital importance for CWs design (Fester et al. 2014)

3. Objectives

As mentioned above, constructed wetlands provide a natural, reliable, and low-cost alternative in removing ever present contaminants discharged by humans into the surrounding environment. However, the abovementioned numerous processes and mechanisms involved in the removal of PPCPs in constructed wetlands are understudied, and knowledge gaps concerning key elements of CWs design remain. These gaps must be addressed to enhance the relevance of CWs and their success in achieving maximum contaminant removal. The main objectives of this study are to compare the effects of substrates in the removal of ibuprofen in combination with the occurrence of arbuscular mycorrhiza. The study aims to demonstrate that choice substrates and AMF prevalence positively impact not only the removal of emerging contaminants but also positively benefit the established plants used in such designations. The experiment intends to provide the groundwork for further studies of design parameters and demonstrate the significance of constructed wetlands application in waste-water treatments across the globe.



4. Methods and Materials

Small-scale laboratory sub-surface vertical constructed wetlands were developed on the grounds of the Czech Agricultural University in Prague. The experimental setup consisted of 24 reactors grouped into 4 categories (A, B, C, D) characterized by the presence of plants (*Glyceria maxima*) from the Czech Agricultural University, and the inclusion of arbuscular mycorrhiza obtained from the Institute of Botany in Czech Republic. Group A reactors contained gravel and sand based substrate while B, C, D reactors had a gravel/sand and either a perlite, vermiculite or biochar substrate respectively. **Figure 7** details the specifications of the reactors.



Figure 7 – Schematic diagram of reactors in CWs

Two types of reactors were developed with a total height of 550 mm and a width of 160 mm. Each reactor consisted of a plastic bottom and column which was made watertight. The reactors had an exposed top for the entry of influent which required the construction of a shelter which protected the reactors from external environmental factors such as incursion of rain water. Furthermore, all of the reactors had a sampling point at 25 cm above the plastic bottom which consisted of a hose for the effluent. The reactors further differed in the number of layers, with group A reactors having two layers with a 400 mm sand substrate matrix and a 150 mm gravel-based matrix. All reactors from the groups B, C, D had a three-layer matrix which consisted of 50 mm sand layer, a second 350 mm layer consisting of absorptive material that differed among the three groups, and a third 150 mm gravel matrix layer. The second layer in groups B, C, D differed in the type of substrate with reactors in group B having expanded perlite, Group C consisting of expanded vermiculite and reactors from group D with biochar.

The breakdown of reactor parameters is further specified by each group having 2 variations in triplicates containing Glyceria maxima (Gly+) and the other *Glyceria maxima* and arbuscular mycorrhiza (Gly+ AMF+) and triplicate of reactors having both AMF and plants. A schematic diagram (**Figure 8**) detailing specification of the constructed wetlands can be viewed below.



Figure 8 - Schematic diagram of laboratory scale CWs

The first phase of the experimental setup lasted four weeks, and was designed so we could see whether plants could successfully adapt to their new environment as well as for the establishment of symbiotic system between plants and the AMF. During this time, plants were fed a low concentrated nutrient solution intermittingly within a four-day cycle. The composition of the nutrient solution is illustrated by **Table 1**. The cycle comprised of 24 hours in which the reactors were kept water free, followed by a 72-hour cycle during which plants were watered every two days with 1 L of the influent, and water was allowed to directly flow out. After this stage of the experiment, a simulated sewage commissioning phase followed

which lasted for two weeks. During this phase, a four-day cycle was kept with 2 L of the influent every two days which was allowed to directly flow out. At this stage measurements and data began to be collected for the following water quality indicators: total carbon (TC), total organic carbon (TOC), inorganic carbon (IC), total nitrogen (TN), as well as ammonium nitrogen (NH₄⁺ N), Chloride, Nitrate (NO₃⁻⁻N), Nitrite (NO₂⁻⁻N), Phosphate and Sulphate. Furthermore, data was also collected for the measurements of dissolved oxygen (DO), electrical conductivity (EC), oxidation/reduction potential (ORP) and pH.

Reagent	Concentration	Microelements	Concentration
Urea	104 mg/L	CuSO ₄ ·5H2O	0.01 mg/L
NH ₄ Cl	16 mg/L	FeSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O	0.45 mg/L
CH ₃ COONa·3H ₂ O	255 mg/L	MnSO4·H ₂ O	0.02 mg/L
Peptone	20 mg/L	Pb(NO ₃) ₂	0.02 mg/L
KH ₂ PO ₄	41 mg/L	H ₃ BO ₃	0.04 mg/L
Yeast extract	132 mg/L	Na ₂ MoO ₄ ·2H ₂ O	0.02 mg/L
Skim milk	59 mg/L	KCr(SO ₄) ₂ ·12H ₂ O	0.02 mg/L
NaHCO ₃	25 mg/L		
MgSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O	41 mg/L		
CaCl ₂ ·6H ₂ O	28 mg/L		

Table 1 - Concentration (mg/L) of nutrients in wastewater solution

Sampling of water quality consisted of collection at the 25 cm depth sampling point at each of the 48 reactors. For each sample a 0,5 L plastic water container was marked and used for each of the reactors. Each sampling consisted of collection from the effluent. For each sample, the water containers were filled with 0,5 L which was then directly emptied, and once again filled to the brim. All 24 containers comprising effluent samples were then transported to be measured in laboratories. As mentioned above, a number of measurements were collected starting with the dissolved oxygen (DO). Measurements were taken using the Hach HQ30D flexi portable multimeter used for the assessment of water quality application. Connected to the instrument was a probe which upon installation was automatically calibrated and measurements of each water sample could start immediately. The probe connected to the

multimeter was inserted into each of the 48 water containers and following every measurement, the probe was then cleaned using deionized water in order to lower risk of data discrepancy and misinterpretation. Data was measured and recorded in mg/L. Assessments of electrical conductivity (EC), oxidation/reduction potential (ORP) and pH were carried out using the HI 98121 digital combo pH & EC meter, and the HI 98129 pH & ORP probe manufactured by Hanna Instruments. As with the measurement of dissolved oxygen, each electrode was automatically calibrated following insertion of the electrode into each of the 48 samples. Following each measurement, the probes were rinsed using deionized water.

For the measurement of ammonia ions, an indophenol method using Agilent Technologies Cary 60 UV-Vis spectrophotometer was carried out. In order for each sample to be measured, an alkaline and a coloring agent solution had to be prepared. For the preparation of the alkaline solution 16 g of sodium hydroxide (NaOH) was dissolved in 250 mL of deionized water and 1g of sodium dichloroisocyanurate dihydrate (C₃N₃O₃CL₂Na2H₂O) was added following a period of incubation until the solution reached room temperature. After dissolving, the solution was kept in a dark container and stored in the refrigerator. For the preparation of the dyeing solution, 32.5 g of sodium salicylate (C7H5O3Na) and 32.5 g of sodium citrate dihydrate (Na₃C₆H₅O₇ 2H₂O) was added to 250 ml deionized water. After dissolution, 0.238 g of sodium nitroprusside dihydrate (Na₂[Fe (CN)₅ NO)].2H₂O) was added to the solution and allowed to dissolve. Same as the alkaline solution, the coloring agent was kept in a dark container and stored in the refrigerator. Following the preparation of the reagent solutions, each sample (700 µl) along with an alkaline solution and a dyeing agent was pipetted into a reaction tube and allowed to stand for 60 minutes. Furthermore, the same amount of the influent was also prepared using the same reaction agents as a blank. Following the allotted time, each sample was measured using the aforementioned spectrophotometer at the predetermined wavelength of 655 nm using a 1 cm cuvette.

The automatic SKALAR Formacs TOC/TN analyzer supplied an advantageous method for the measurement of total organic carbon (TOC), inorganic carbon (IC) as well as nitrogen (TN). Each sample is fitted into a rotating carousel which works as an autosampler following placement into a high temperature reactor (750-950 °C). Once in the reactor, all organic and inorganic carbon (TC) is oxidized into gaseous carbon dioxide (CO₂) while all bonded nitrogen is converted into Nitric oxide (NO). Air in the analyzer carries these converted products onto detectors where their concentration is measured. First, Carbon dioxide is detected using an infrared detector, while nitric oxide is measured using a chemiluminescence detector. Inorganic carbon is measured in an IC detector chamber where it is converted into gaseous CO_2 . The total amount of organic carbon is then measured from the equation TOC = TC - IC.

The third official operational phase of the experiment began on the 8th of September which also marked the first time the emerging pollutants were added to wastewater. Among the ECs that were added and analyzed was ibuprofen, the subject of this study as well as organic compounds carbon, nitrogen, phosphate and sulphate. The third phase lasted for three months and was comprised of a four-day cycle in which 2 L of the influent containing EC's was fed to the reactors in a semi-saturated setting. Following the four-day cycle, water samples containing emerging contaminants were analyzed by the aforementioned methods stated above. Sample collection and analysis was consistent with that of the second phase. Each of the 24 samples were collected in plastic water containers and the same series of analysis steps were taken. Following measurements, each sample was stored for further analysis. After the end of the experiment which lasted until the end of November 2019, all of the 24 reactors were disassembled and samples of substrates, the plant itself as well as roots and shoots were measured, weighed and stored for future analysis.

5. Results and Discussion

The results of our experiment over the course of several months beginning in late August and concluding in November have been compiled and assessed using the aforementioned measurement techniques described in the methodology section. **Table 2** below exemplifies the types and acronyms used for each of our CWs reactor variations, as well as the number and dates of measurements taken for easier understanding. Data representation has been apportioned based on the subject of interests which was primarily the differences of ibuprofen and organic compound concentrations between substrates, but also the variable represented by the presence of arbuscular mycorrhiza. Furthermore, the average removal rate in each type of substrate has been calculated for ibuprofen and organic compounds to further assess the efficacy of each substrate.

Plant + Sand	PS	NO. of measurement	Date
Plant + Sand + AMF	PSA	1	23/8/2019
Diant - Expanded Darlite		2	31/8/2019
Plant + Expanded Pernte	PP	3	8/9/2019
Plant + Expanded Perlite + AMF	ΡΡΔ	4	16/9/2019
		5	24/9/2019
Plant + Expanded Vermiculite	PV	6	2/10/2019
Plant + Expanded Vermiculite + AME		7	10/10/2019
	PVA	8	18/10/2019
Plant + Biochar	PB	9	26/10/2019
		10	30/10/2019
Plant + Biochar + AMF	PBA	11	03/11/2019

Table 2 – Reactor acronyms/Dates of measurements

5.1 Plant Biomass

The biomass of planted *Glyceria maxima* including the length (cm) of shoots and roots (**Graph 1**) and as well as shoot/root weight (g) (**Graph 2**) may have significant consequences for the uptake of nutrients as well as pollutant and subsequent removal and microbial processes within the soil. As demonstrated by our results, the choice of substrates can have great influence on the biomass of plants'. Our data shows that the use of perlite as a substrate has the most significant effect on average plant biomass with a root length of 41,3 cm and shoots with 68,5 cm for a total of 109,8 cm. The average weight of plants in perlite substrate was also much higher with 335,2 g root weight and shoots of 163,5 g. Second largest length and weight were

plants in vermiculite with 30 cm long roots weighing 182,5 g, and shoots with a length of 51,7 cm weighing at 182,5 g. Plants having biochar as a substrate had larger lengths than sand based plants with total length of 75,1 cm compared to 62,5 cm respectively, though the weight of sand based plants was higher with 255,5 g compared to 242 g biochar plants. These differences may be explained by the properties of the substrates. Vermiculite being less porous than perlite for example, has the ability to absorb and retain water and nutrients more efficiently which may result in better conditions for pollutant removal and also increased plant growth (Kang et al. 2004). On the other hand, the more aeriated perlite, though it doesn't retain water as efficiently, allows for better oxygen diffusion (Jackson 1974; Kang et al. 2004) may provide better nitrifying conditions in the rhizosphere. Biochar has the advantage of providing a rich carbon source necessary for the denitrification process, is valued for its soil amendment properties, encourages growth of symbiotic microorganisms and have the ability to remove pollutants while also being highly porous (Gupta et al. 2016). These results indicate that use of different substrates causes significant changes not only to plant biomass, but most likely to mechanical and biological processes within the rhizosphere and the complex network of nutrient and pollutant removal pathways.



Graph 1 – Root/Shoot length (cm) of Glyceria maxima



Graph 2 – Biomass of Glyceria maxima; root and shoot weight (g)

The impact of AMF on the biomass of plants is shown by the Graphs 3 and 4 which show the differences between AMF inoculated and non-inoculated plant length and weight. According to previous studies, it has been found that AMF may cause physiological changes resulting in increased plant growth and biomass along with improved nutrient uptake (Miransari 2011; Xu et al. 2016; Hu et al. 2020). On the contrary, other studies found that mycorrhizal inoculation negatively affected plant growth and biomass (Barbera et al. 2020) Our results support the latter as we have a general decrease in the length and weight of AMF inoculated *Glyceria maxima* with some exceptions. In sand AMF+ reactors, we report a +1,56% root length, -7,57% shoot length, -27,67% root weight and +8,53% shoot weight. For perlite AMF+ in the aforementioned order, +6,11% root length, -8,00% shoots length, +10,65 root weight and -8,78% shoot weight. Vermiculite AMF+ plants exhibited -30,32% root length, -5,1% shoot length, -27,31% root weight and -10,9% shoot weight. Finally, biochar AMF+ Glyceria maxima had +6,51% root length, -12,09% shoot length, +6,30% root weight and -6,55% shoot weight. It must be noted that the results are not only affected by the inclusion and abundance of AMF, but also the use of different substrates, which poses another variable which affects the rhizosphere environment, microorganisms within it, nutrient uptake by plant and consequently the physiological differences among plant biomass. Therefore, more research should be performed on substrate induced rhizosphere changes.



Graph 3 – Influence of AMF on *Glyceria maxima* length (cm)



Graph 4 – Influence of AMF on *Glyceria maxima* weight (g)

5.2 AMF Colonization

	F%	M%	A%
SAP	61.34±10.48	11.24±2.47	0.54±0.07
VAP	92.27±3.57	58.17±0.56	1.32±0.02
PAP	83.54±5.63	26.23±1.34	0.79±0.04
BAP	78.36±6.34	24.43±1.62	0.67 ± 0.05

Table 3 – The differences of AMF colonization among different substrates. (F%)mycorrhiza occurrence in the rhizosphere, (M%) intensity of AMF colonization and(A%) arbuscule abundance.

AMF communities were successfully established in CWs of all types of substrates as illustrated by **Table 3** above. The AMF colonization may be visually seen by **photos 1-4** below showing AMF arbuscules stained by Trypan blue. Differing colonization percentages can be explained by physiological changes among the substrates It has been reported that nutrient accessibility and retention of carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus, along with pH and oxygen availability were important defining factors of AMF colonization (Xu et al. 2016; Hu et al. 2020). Vermiculite had the highest colonization intensity (58,17%) possibly due to the substrates ability to retain nutrients more effectively (Kang et al. 2004). 26,23% and 24,43% colonization intensity was found for perlite and biochar respectively, again possibly due to the substrates porous structure allowing for better oxygen diffusion while sand had the lowest intensity (11,24%).



Photo 1 - Sand AMF+



Photo 2 – Perlite AMF+





Photo 3 – Vermiculite AMF+

Photo 4 – Biochar AMF+

5.3 Ibuprofen Removal

The removal efficiency of ibuprofen and other PPCPs is governed by numerous biotic and abiotic factors including and not limited to adsorption, sedimentation, plant uptake and assimilation, biodegradation by means of microbial and fungi interactions (Matamoros et al. 2008; Hijosa-Valsero et al. 2010; Gupta et al. 2016). Our experiment sought to determine the influence of distinctive substrates on the removal efficiency of ibuprofen. Experimental results demonstrate that substrates have a noteworthy influence on ibuprofen removal as illustrated by **Graphs 5** (AMF-) and **Graph 6** (AMF+).



Graph 5 – Ibuprofen concentration in AMF- reactors



Graph 6 – Ibuprofen concentration in AMF+ reactors

In general, ibuprofen was significantly removed in reactors of all substrates at varying degrees. A 65,71 - 76,48% removal efficiency was observed in sand-based reactors, 83,59 -88,55% removal efficiency in perlite CWs, 85,72 - 91,42% in vermiculite CWs and a noteworthy 99,6 - 99,98% removal efficiency in biochar containing CWs as illustrated by Graph 7. The differences between the substrates were most probably due to different sorption capacities and substrate induced changed on the rhizosphere environment affecting microbial activity (Gupta et al. 2016). The striking removal efficiency of biochar (but also vermiculite, perlite and sand respectively) is possibly due to its high surface area and porous structure, potential to ameliorate and purify soil and water, enduring sorption capacity with high redox potential which was found to be positively correlated with ibuprofen removal (Marschner et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2017; Gupta et al. 2016). AMF contributions to removal rates were mixed with +10,77% increase in AMF+ sand reactors, and +0,02% in AMF+ biochar while a -4,99% and -5,70% decrease has been reported in AMF+ perlite and vermiculite reactors respectively. These mixed results are possibly a result of changes to the rhizosphere environment caused by the presence of AMF. Overall, the influence of AMF on ibuprofen removal is debatable and needs to be researched more thoroughly to assess its impact.

Literature describes that substrate adsorption is an important element that contributes to the reduction and removal of PPCPs reaching over 90% removal efficiency consistent with

our findings (Oliveira et al. 2019). Furthermore, the use of a sand substrate along with a lower gravel layer in our CWs may have also contributed to ibuprofen removal as the substrates' adsorption capacities were reported to increase PPCP removal rates (Matamoros et. al 2005; Matamoros and Bayona 2006). In addition Zhang et al. 2017 reported that microbial degradation pathways in CWs along with pollutant assimilation by plants also contributes to total pollutant removal. It must be mentioned that other studies reported that variables such as nitrogen, organic carbon, and pH did not affect removal efficiency of ibuprofen while temperature, redox potential, and the mechanisms of phytodegradation, sorption onto organic matter and microbial activity played key roles in PPCP removal (Hijosa-Valsero et al. 2010; Park et al. 2018; Lancheros et al. 2019). It was also described that phytodegradation accelerated ibuprofen removal as significant removal differences were found in planted vs unplanted CWs (Hijosa-Valsero et al. 2010; Zhang et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2017). Therefore, the presence of Glyceria maxima in our experiment may have contributed to ibuprofen removal. However, due to the complex interactions within the aerobic as well as anaerobic microbial communicates of the rhizosphere, it is difficult to determine specific phytodegradation pathways of PPCPs and should be further studied to elucidate key networks for ibuprofen removal. (Lancheros et al. 2019).



Graph 7 – Average rate of removal for ibuprofen in AMF- and AMF+ reactors

5.4 Total Carbon Removal

The interaction that comes into being between roots and the substrate matrix is central to the effectiveness of various complex biotic and abiotic processes occurring in rhizosphere. Therefore, the type of substrate used can have great effect on the removal of organic compounds as well as PPCPs and other pollutant (Stottmeister et al. 2003). The transformation and removal of carbon in the soil is mostly carried out by microorganisms found in the rhizosphere as it was found that higher removal efficiencies for carbon were in unplanted CWs compared to planted mesocosms (Baptista et al. 2003). However, it must also be mentioned that plants provide microorganisms a favorable growing environment as well as nutrients in the form of root exudates (Stottmeister et al. 2003). Therefore, the role of plants for direct carbon removal may be minimal, however, due to symbiotic relationships with bacteria and fungi, plants have a substantial indirect influence. Different substrate matrixes cause changes to the composition of the rhizosphere environment along with changes to the rates of carbon cycling and removal. Our results support these observations as different concentrations of total carbon (TC) were found in different substrates illustrated by **Graph 8** for TC concentration in AMF- reactors and **Graph 9** for AMF+ reactors.



Graph 8 – Total carbon concentration (mg/L) in AMF- reactors



Graph 9 – Total carbon concentration (mg/L) in AMF+ reactors



Graph 10 - Average rate of removal for Total Carbon (TC) in AMF- and AMF+ reactors

Removal efficacy (TC) illustrated by Graph 10 was found to be 47,03 - 52,55% for sand, 44,81 - 47,80% for perlite, 66,10 - 70,00% for vermiculite, and 49,10 - 58,71% for biochar substrates. The highest removal rate was found in vermiculite reactors, which could be attributed to the substrate's properties of improved water and nutrient retention which are needed for microbial metabolism processes. The influence of AMF on TC concentration is also non-negligible as AMF increased TC removal rate by +5,52% in sand, +3,9% in vermiculite, +9,61% in biochar. However, a -2,99% decrease was reported in perlite reactors. These changes may have occurred as a result of a change in the microenvironment due to AMF presence. TC concentrations may have also been affected by root exudate leakage in the effluent, and the total removal efficiency affected by the release of CO2 as a result of respiration from plants as well as aerobic organisms in the soil (Wiessner et al. 2005). Large gaps between influent and effluent concentrations have also been found for total organic carbon (TOC) shown by Graph 11 (AMF-) and Graph 12 (AMF+). All substrates have shown to be valuable for TOC removal with a removal rate ranging from 73,77 - 89,45% (Graph 13). Biochar was found to have the highest removal efficiency with 88,35 -89,45% indicating that the substrates properties are suitable for expansion of microbial communities that utilize carbon for metabolic activity and thus are able to transform and remove other nutrients such as nitrogen (N) or pollutants including ibuprofen.



Graph 11 – Total organic carbon concentration (mg/L) in AMF- reactors



Graph 12 – Total organic carbon concentration (mg/L) in AMF+ reactors



Graph 13 - Average rate of Total organic carbon (TOC) removal in AMF- and AMF+ reactors

On the contrary, inorganic carbon (IC) removal rate was found in biochar substrates with 11,10 - 28,80% efficiency in AMF-/AMF+ shown by Graph 14. As the substrate is very rich in carbon, the soil matrix could have been fully saturated by carbon, unable to remove it as efficiently. Vermiculite was found to be the most efficient in eliminating IC with 51,20 -57,10% removal rate. TOC and IC removal rate disparities between substrates can be explained by differences in soil temperature, water and nutrient retention, pH, redox potential, adsorption and sedimentation, and more importantly metabolic interactions among soil microbes. AMF have shown to have a very slight influence on the increase of removal rates of carbon except in perlite reactors where both TOC and IC rates decreased by -3,5% and -3,11% respectively. It has been reported by Wang et al. 2016 that AMF contributed to carbon partitioning, the mechanisms by which this occurs is however still poorly understood. To sum up, substrates were found to have an effect on carbon cycling and transformation of organic matter in CWs. Vermiculite was found to the have the greatest removal efficiency for TC and IC while biochar demonstrated highest efficiency for total organic carbon removal. Nonetheless, the mechanisms by which substrates as well as AMF affect carbon transformation are still poorly understood, and although these changes are most likely due to structure and composition changes of the microbial environment, further research should be done to clarify carbon cycling in CWs to better optimize design parameters to improve CW function.



Graph 14 - Average rate of removal for inorganic carbon (IC) in AMF- and AMF+ reactors

5.5 Nitrogen Removal

As with removal of other pollutants and organic compounds, the expulsion of nitrogen from constructed wetlands is governed by numerous complex biological and mechanical pathways that can be enhanced by factors such as temperature, pH, carbon availability and operational factors of CWs. Nitrogen removal is deemed especially important as increased release into the surrounding environment causes eutrophication of waters consequently leading to depleted oxygen levels and the death of numerous aquatic species (Grinberga and Lagzdins 2017). Although processes such as adsorption, plant uptake and assimilation play a role in nitrogen transformation, the predominant pathways by which nitrogen is transformed and subsequently removed are ammonification, nitrification, and denitrification carried out by microbiological organisms (Saeed and Sun 2012). Our experimental results (TN concentrations of influent vs effluent in AMF- and AMF+ reactors illustrated by **Graphs 15** and **16** respectively) exemplify that substrates do in fact contribute to the effectiveness of total nitrogen (TN) removal with 39,89 - 86,04% efficiency in AMF- reactors and 45,77 - 76,16% removal efficiency in AMF+ reactors as can be viewed in **Graph 17**.



Graph 15 - Total nitrogen concentration (mg/L) in AMF- reactors



Graph 16 – Total nitrogen concentration (mg/L) in AMF+ reactors



Graph 17 - Average rate of removal for total nitrogen (TN) in AMF- and AMF+ reactors

The highest removal rate (86,04 %) was found to be in reactors containing biochar. This can be explained by the fact that many microbiological processes that support nitrogen removal such as denitrification and nitrification require carbon which biochar, acting as a rich carbon sink readily provides, and thus, facilities the enhancement of these processes as shown by studies performed by Laber et al. 1997; Rustige and Nolde 2007; Lu et al. 2009. Furthermore, the importance of carbon as demonstrated by the studies above is further exemplified by nitrate concentrations due to denitrification, an observation which was also detected in our experiment shown by Graph 18. Biochar enhanced reactors had lowest concentrations of nitrate (31,01 – 76,03 mg/L) which could be accredited to higher denitrification rates in those reactors. TN removal rate was also high in perlite (73,60 - 76,16%) and sand (48,24 - 54%). This could be explained by the porous structure of the substrates providing more aeriated conditions for the growth of nitrifying bacteria, and the lower gravel layer having anoxic conditions which simultaneously enhances nitrification and denitrification (Saeed and Sun 2012). A study conducted by Białowiec et al. 2011 used porous light-weight aggregates in the upper level and gravel in the lower level of their wetland system and achieved 60% removal of TN. The lower removal efficiency of TN in verniculite reactors, a light-weight aggregate substrate could possibly be explained by the length of *Glyceria maxima* (Graph 1 and Graph 2) planted in these reactors as the smaller length of roots compared to perlite provides less surface area for microbial organisms governing nitrification-denitrification processes resulting in decreased TN removal.



Graph 18 – Average nitrate accumulation in AMF- and AMF+ reactors

The influence of AMF generally decreased TN removal, only in the substrates perlite and vermiculite did we see an increase of TN removal with only 2,56% and 5,88% respectively (**Graph 17**). This small increase could be explained by fungi hyphae which increase total surface area providing more oxygen to microorganisms in the rhizosphere and thus, enhancing nitrification (Saeed and Sun 2012). Generally, however, the decrease in nitrogen removal can be explained by a change in the rhizosphere environment as the presence of AMF can have an impact on the metabolism of nitrogen fixing microorganisms.

The results of our experiment show that concentration of ammonia (NH₄⁺ N) as can be seen in **Graph 19** (AMF- reactors) and **Graph 20** (AMF+ reactors) differs depending on the type of substrates employed. Removal efficiency (**Graph 21**) ranged from 52,40 - 95,09% in AMF- and 64,70 - 90,60% for AMF+ reactors. Perlite, vermiculite and biochar proved to be more beneficial for ammonia removal compared to sand in both AMF inoculated and noninoculated reactors due to more favorable conditions that promote oxygen diffusion in more porous perlite and vermiculite increasing nitrification (Noorvee et al. 2007), and the carbon rich biochar allowing for faster metabolism of nitrifying bacteria which convert NH₄⁺ N to nitrite (NO₂-N) and then to nitrate (NO₃-N).



Graph 19 – Ammonia Concentration (mg/L) in AMF- reactors



Graph 20 – Ammonia Concentration (mg/L) in AMF+ reactors



Graph 21 - Average rate of removal for ammonia in AMF- and AMF+ reactors

This increase of nitrification may be observed in concentration increases of nitrates and nitrites illustrated by **Graphs 18 and 22**. However, it must be noted that the significant spike in nitrite removal may be attributed to mistakes during the measurement. Overall, although the influence of AMF on nitrogen metabolism did not prove to be significant according to our results, the potential of using different substrates proved to be effective in increasing metabolic microbial processes such as denitrification and nitrification that determine total nitrogen removal. For future studies, more research should be done in order to identify optimal conditions of CW parameters that limit nitrogen removal such as temperature, pH, carbon and oxygen concentrations to further enhance pollutant removal in specific substrates.



Graph 22 – Average nitrite accumulation in AMF- and AMF+ reactors

5.6 Phosphate Removal

Phosphorus is one of the key compounds which cause eutrophication of surface waters and its removal from wastewater using CWs has been of great interest (Prochaska and Zouboulis 2006). However, this is a problematic issue that has yet to be adequately resolved. The combination of several processes such as uptake by plants, adsorption, and precipitation within substrates play a major role in phosphate removal (Wang et al. 2013). The initial potential of each constructed wetland system to remove phosphorus is limited and dependent on types of materials used such as choice of substrates, plants as well as symbiotic microbes (Arias and Brix 2005). Plant uptake is generally seen as one of the main mechanisms by which phosphates are removed, however, this represents only a fraction of the total amount of the compound that is usually present in wastewater and is only a temporary mechanism by which phosphates are stored (Brix et al. 2001; Gupta et al. 2016). Also, microbial uptake of phosphates is not considered substantial and only temporary as phosphates are released back into the environment following decay of organisms (Vymazal 2007). One of the ways by which phosphate removal may be enhanced is by utilizing substrates which are able to bind phosphorus more efficiently and have high sorption capacities. However, this comes with its own drawbacks as the removal of the compound is specifically tied to the mineral makeup of the substrate and does not solve long-term removal due to finite sorption capacity of substrates (Vymazal 2007; Brix et al. 2001).

The results of our experiment illustrated by Graphs 23 for AMF- reactors and Graph 24 for AMF+ show that the use of constructed wetlands and specific substrates can successfully remove phosphates with varying degrees of success based on a number of variables. Average rate of removal (Graph 25) was found to range from 53,75 – 88, 28% efficiency in sand-based, perlite, vermiculite as well as biochar media possibly due to the substrates high surface area, ability to attract and successfully bind organic compounds, as well as sorption onto the lower layer of gravel media. In our experiment, biochar (73,33 - 88,28%) and perlite (79,09 -83,32%) have been shown to have the greatest removal of phosphates. Furthermore, the inclusion of AMF may have increased the removal of phosphorus resulting from increased uptake by plants and microbes. An observed exception was AMF+ biochar reactors which showed a decreased removal, perhaps due to lower total surface area of roots because plants in biochar contained reactors exhibited lower total length and weight of roots which could negatively affect temporary phosphate uptake. In the latter stages of the experiment, phosphate concentration began to increase, which could indicate maximal saturation of phosphate compounds in the substrates. For future study recommendations concerning phosphorus and phosphate removal, it is necessary to more closely examine selected substrates and their mineral makeup, choose materials that have high phosphorus adsorption and retention capacities with determining factors that include grain size distribution and total surface area helpful for sorption and precipitation processes (Ballantine and Tanner 2010).



Graph 23 - Phosphate concentration (mg/L) in AMF- reactors



Graph 24 - Phosphate concentration (mg/L) in AMF+ reactors



Graph 25 – Average rate of phosphate removal in AMF- and AMF+ reactors

5.7 Sulphate Removal

Sulphate is a common wastewater pollutant, and although it does not usually pose health risks, reduced sulphate compounds may inhibit plant growth and negatively affect microbial communities (Wiessner et al. 2005; Chen et al. 2016). Furthermore, the transformation of sulphate compounds to hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) for example can have detrimental effects on waterpipe corrosion, which in turn may cause phytotoxicity (Chen et al. 2016). The removal of sulphate in CWs is closely associated with the cycling of carbon and nitrogen, however, these relationships are not well understood (Wiessner et al. 2005). Our experimental results, illustrated by sulphate concentrations in **Graph 26** (AMF-) and **Graph 27** (AMF+) indicate that removal of sulphates was not substantial, but suggested that's substrates do have an effect on its concentration. **Graph 28** details removal efficiency of sulphate for all substrates as well as the influence of AMF. The use of biochar as a substrate was shown in the experiment to be a promising agent enhancing sulphate removal with a 7,38% efficiency possibly due biochar's properties as a rich carbon sink, as the rhizosphere by itself does not contain enough internal carbon to successfully facilitate sulphate removal by its reduction (Stein et al. 2007). Other substrate types were not efficient in sulphate removal nor did AMF colonization have a substantial effect and conversely, decreased removal rate of sulphate in biochar (AMF+) reactors by -7,08%. This could signify that AMF induce changes to sulphate reducing bacteria community structure. The efficiency of biochar is consistent with a study by Wiessner et al. 2005 which found that sulphate reduction intensity improved with an increased carbon load. Over time however, the removal of carbon in biochar enriched reactors decreased, possibly due to the reduction of carbon supply provided by the biochar substrate. This would also be in accordance with a study by Chen et al. 2016 that utilized plant litter, a rich carbon sink. In this study, sulphate removal decreased in the later phases of the experiment due to a decreased carbon sources (Chen et al. 2016). Our experiment suggests that the presence of a rich carbon source, such as biochar may positively affect the removal of sulphate at a time-dependent rate decreasing over time, a factor which should be more closely considered in future studies. Therefore, CWs can be considered a feasible option as long as carbon is continuously provided to maintain sulfate reduction (Gruyer et al. 2013).



Graph 26 – Sulphate concentration (mg/L) in AMF- reactors



Graph 27 – Sulphate concentration (mg/L) in AMF+ reactors



Graph 28 – Average rate of removal for sulphate in AMF- and AMF+ reactors

To recapitulate, the objectives of this work were to examine whether and how substrates might affect ibuprofen removal as representative of PPCPs, and other emerging contaminants in constructed wetlands. Our results suggest that substrates are a key operational factor that must be thoroughly assessed when designing such a system. Nonetheless, the number and types of substrates which were analyzed remain a limiting factor that needs to be examined more closely, and on a wider scale to gain further insight into the role that substrates play in PPCP removal, and to determine if and which substrate is most efficient in wastewater remediation. Furthermore, while substrate choice is a crucial factor of CWs design configuration, it is only one of the many operational factors that influence the efficacy of the total system.

Although our experiment has been successful at removing ibuprofen and organic compounds, the total removal efficiency of the system was impeded by a lack of assessment of other mechanical, chemical and biological factors that determine CWs. The relative short duration of the experiment meant that factors such as seasonal variations of temperature and light, central for photodegradation pathways for example have not been thoroughly inspected. Most importantly, a key limiting factor was a lack of microbial community evaluation as biodegradation processes are deemed as the major removal mechanisms by which contaminants are removed. However, although some of these processes such as denitrification and nitrification have been observed, other biodegradation pathways occurring within the microenvironment of the rhizosphere remain poorly understood. The success of future CWs installments will depend on the understanding of the complex relationships within the rhizosphere network and its inhabitants and should be a principal priority for upcoming CWs research.

6. Conclusion

Our experiment has demonstrated that substrates have a considerable role in determining the removal efficiency of not only ibuprofen, but other contaminant compounds usually present in wastewater. Our results, however, exemplify that substrates are only one piece of a far more complex puzzle consisting of a multitude of biotic and abiotic factors. Differences which have been observed in the removal rates of ibuprofen and organic compounds between AMF+ and AMF- reactors suggest that AMF induced changes to the rhizosphere environment. Nevertheless, the multitude of factors which influence CWs efficacy is highlighted by our experiment's shortcomings. A relatively short duration of the experiment forgoing seasonal variations in light and temperature, lack of substrates with more diverse characteristics, and an absence of a microbial community assessment may hinder our results, and must be addressed in future CWs designs. Therefore, future studies on the removal efficacy of constructed wetlands in relation to the effects of substrates should focus on the elucidation of microbial interactions and how substrates' properties might enhance them in order to augment the remediation capacity of the whole CW system. The objective to establish an ideal design configuration of CWs to remove pollutants may be hindered by the multitude of interactions occurring at the same time. Our results imply that a single, most efficient design configuration that optimally removes all pollutants present in wastewater may not exist, because removal pathways for a certain type of pollutant may adversely impact the removal of other contaminant compounds. Therefore, the composition of CWs including substrates should be designed around the removal pathways specific for the type of pollutant in question. This study was able to identify that a combination of different substrates in CWs allows for simultaneous aerobic and anerobic degradation pathways resulting in improved contaminant removal. While the inclusion of perlite and vermiculite has shown increases to the removal rates of organic compounds with vermiculite being most efficient in TC and IC removal, biochar has been shown to be most efficient in the removal of over 98% ibuprofen, OC, TN, phosphate, and sulphate. This indicates that biochar is a suitable candidate for PPCP remediation from soil and could be a useful constituent of future CWs designed for the removal of PPCPs and other emerging contaminants.

7. Bibliography

- Abate, Gilberto, and Jorge C. Masini. 2005. "Influence of PH, Ionic Strength and Humic Acid on Adsorption of Cd(II) and Pb(II) onto Vermiculite." *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects* 262(1–3): 33–39.
- Alarcón, Alejandro, Fred T. Davies, Robin L. Autenrieth, and David A. Zuberer. 2008. "Arbuscular Mycorrhiza and Petroleum-Degrading Microorganisms Enhance Phytoremediation of Petroleum-Contaminated Soil." *International Journal of Phytoremediation* 10(4): 251–63.
- Anawar, Hossain, Golam Ahmed, and Vladimir Strezov. 2019. Emerging and Nanomaterial Contaminants in Wastewater Long-Term Performance and Feasibility of Using Constructed Wetlands for Treatment of Emerging and Nanomaterial Contaminants in Municipal and Industrial Wastewater. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-814673-6.00003-6.
- Arias, Carlos A., and Hans Brix. 2005. "Phosphorus Removal in Constructed Wetlands: Can Suitable Alternative Media Be Identified?" *Water Science and Technology* 51(9): 267– 73. https://iwaponline.com/wst/article/51/9/267/11774/Phosphorus-removal-inconstructed-wetlands-can (February 22, 2020).
- Arroyo, Paula, Gemma Ansola, and Luis E.Sáenz de Miera. 2013. "Effects of Substrate, Vegetation and Flow on Arsenic and Zinc Removal Efficiency and Microbial Diversity in Constructed Wetlands." *Ecological Engineering* 51: 95–103.
- Ávila, Cristina et al. 2010. "Capacity of a Horizontal Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetland System for the Removal of Emerging Pollutants: An Injection Experiment." *Chemosphere* 81(9): 1137–42.
- Ávila, Cristina, Carolina Reyes, Josep María Bayona, and Joan García. 2013. "Emerging Organic Contaminant Removal Depending on Primary Treatment and Operational Strategy in Horizontal Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetlands: Influence of Redox." *Water Research* 47(1): 315–25.
- Ballantine, Deborah J., and Chris C. Tanner. 2010. "Substrate and Filter Materials to Enhance Phosphorus Removal in Constructed Wetlands Treating Diffuse Farm Runoff: A Review." *New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research* 53(1): 71–95. http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00288231003685843 (February 23, 2020).
- Baptista, J. D.C., T. Donnelly, D. Rayne, and R. J. Davenport. 2003. "Microbial Mechanisms of Carbon Removal in Subsurface Flow Wetlands." In *Water Science and Technology*, , 127–34. https://iwaponline.com/wst/article/48/5/127/10925/Microbial-mechanisms-ofcarbon-removal-in (March 7, 2020).
- Barbera, Antonio Carlo et al. 2020. "Effects of Pharmaceuticals (Caffeine and Ibuprofen) and AMF Inoculation on the Growth and Yield of Oryza Sativa L." *Agricultural Water Management* 232: 106005.
- Białowiec, Andrzej, Wojciech Janczukowicz, and Peter F. Randerson. 2011. "Nitrogen Removal from Wastewater in Vertical Flow Constructed Wetlands Containing LWA/Gravel Layers and Reed Vegetation." *Ecological Engineering* 37(6): 897–902.
- Blanke, Verena et al. 2005. "Nitrogen Supply Affects Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Colonization of Artemisia Vulgaris in a Phosphate-Polluted Field Site." *New Phytologist* 166(3): 981– 92.
- Brix, H., C. A. Arias, and M. Del Bubba. 2001. "Media Selection for Sustainable Phosphorus Removal in Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetlands." In *Water Science and Technology*, , 47–54. https://iwaponline.com/wst/article/44/11-12/47/7997/Media-selection-forsustainable-phosphorus-removal (February 22, 2020).

- Bui, Tung Xuan, and Heechul Choi. 2010. "Influence of Ionic Strength, Anions, Cations, and Natural Organic Matter on the Adsorption of Pharmaceuticals to Silica." *Chemosphere* 80(7): 681–86.
- Buser, Hans-Rudolf, Thomas Poiger, and Markus D. Müller. 1998. "Occurrence and Fate of the Pharmaceutical Drug Diclofenac in Surface Waters: Rapid Photodegradation in a Lake." *Environmental Science & Technology* 32(22): 3449–56. https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/es980301x (November 28, 2019).
- Carvalho, Pedro N, M Clara P Basto, C Marisa R Almeida, and Hans Brix. 2014. "A Review of Plant-Pharmaceutical Interactions: From Uptake and Effects in Crop Plants to Phytoremediation in Constructed Wetlands." *Environmental science and pollution research international* 21(20): 11729–63.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24481515 (November 27, 2019).

- Chen, Baoliang, Dandan Zhou, and Lizhong Zhu. 2008. "Transitional Adsorption and Partition of Nonpolar and Polar Aromatic Contaminants by Biochars of Pine Needles with Different Pyrolytic Temperatures." *Environmental Science & Technology* 42(14): 5137–43. https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/es8002684 (December 3, 2019).
- Chen, Yi et al. 2016. "Sulfate Removal and Sulfur Transformation in Constructed Wetlands: The Roles of Filling Material and Plant Biomass." *Water Research* 102: 572–81. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S004313541630505X (February 22, 2020).
- Cleuvers, Michael. 2004. "Mixture Toxicity of the Anti-Inflammatory Drugs Diclofenac, Ibuprofen, Naproxen, and Acetylsalicylic Acid." *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* 59(3): 309–15.
- Collins, Chris, Mike Fryer, and Albania Grosso. 2006. "Plant Uptake of Non-Ionic Organic Chemicals." *Environmental Science & Technology* 40(1): 45–52. https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/es0508166 (November 28, 2019).
- Confer, Sheri R., and William A. Niering. 1992. "Comparison of Created and Natural Freshwater Emergent Wetlands in Connecticut (USA)." Wetlands Ecology and Management 2(3): 143–56. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF00215321 (December 9, 2019).
- Cooper, Paul. 2005. "The Performance of Vertical Flow Constructed Wetland Systems with Special Reference to the Significance of Oxygen Transfer and Hydraulic Loading Rates." *Water Science and Technology* 51(9): 81–90.
- Corgié, S. C., F. Fons, T. Beguiristain, and C. Leyval. 2006. "Biodegradation of Phenanthrene, Spatial Distribution of Bacterial Populations and Dioxygenase Expression in the Mycorrhizosphere of Lolium Perenne Inoculated with Glomus Mosseae." *Mycorrhiza* 16(3): 207–12.
- Daughton, Christian G., and Thomas A. Ternes. 1999. "Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in the Environment: Agents of Subtle Change?" *Environmental Health Perspectives* 107(SUPPL. 6): 907–38.
- David, Anuradha, and Katti Pancharatna. 2009. "Developmental Anomalies Induced by a Non-Selective COX Inhibitor (Ibuprofen) in Zebrafish (Danio Rerio)." *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology* 27(3): 390–95.
- Debiane, Djouher et al. 2009. "Mycorrhization Alleviates Benzo[a]Pyrene-Induced Oxidative Stress in an in Vitro Chicory Root Model." *Phytochemistry* 70(11–12): 1421–27.
- Dordio, Ana V. et al. 2009. "Preliminary Media Screening for Application in the Removal of Clofibric Acid, Carbamazepine and Ibuprofen by SSF-Constructed Wetlands." *Ecological Engineering* 35(2): 290–302.

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S092585740800044X (December 3, 2019).

Ebele, Anekwe Jennifer, Mohamed Abou-Elwafa Abdallah, and Stuart Harrad. 2017. "Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products (PPCPs) in the Freshwater Aquatic Environment." Emerging Contaminants 3(1): 1–16.

- Faulwetter, Jennifer L. et al. 2009. "Microbial Processes Influencing Performance of Treatment Wetlands: A Review." *Ecological Engineering* 35(6): 987–1004. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0925857409000056 (February 29, 2020).
- Ferrando-Climent, Laura et al. 2012. "Comprehensive Study of Ibuprofen and Its Metabolites in Activated Sludge Batch Experiments and Aquatic Environment." *Science of the Total Environment* 438: 404–13.
- Fester, Thomas. 2013. "Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in a Wetland Constructed for Benzene-, Methyl Tert-Butyl Ether- and Ammonia-Contaminated Groundwater Bioremediation." *Microbial Biotechnology* 6(1): 80–84. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1751-7915.2012.00357.x (December 4, 2019).
- Fester, Thomas, Julia Giebler, Lukas Y Wick, and Matthias Kä. 2014. "Plant-Microbe Interactions as Drivers of Ecosystem Functions Relevant for the Biodegradation of Organic Contaminants." *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* 27: 168–75. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2014.01.017 (December 4, 2019).
- Fonder, Nat, and Tom Headley. 2013. "The Taxonomy of Treatment Wetlands: A Proposed Classification and Nomenclature System." *Ecological Engineering* 51: 203–11.
- Gerhardt, Karen E., Xiao Dong Huang, Bernard R. Glick, and Bruce M. Greenberg. 2009. "Phytoremediation and Rhizoremediation of Organic Soil Contaminants: Potential and Challenges." *Plant Science* 176(1): 20–30.
- Gillis, Patricia L. et al. 2014. "The Impact of Municipal Wastewater Effluent on Field-Deployed Freshwater Mussels in the Grand River (Ontario, Canada)." *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 33(1): 134–43. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/etc.2401 (November 26, 2019).
- Grinberga, Linda, and Ainis Lagzdins. 2017. "Nutrient Removal by Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetland in the Farm Mezaciruli." *Research for Rural Development* 1: 160–65.
- Gruyer, Nicolas, Martine Dorais, Beatrix W. Alsanius, and Gérald J. Zagury. 2013. "Simultaneous Removal of Nitrate and Sulfate from Greenhouse Wastewater by Constructed Wetlands." *Journal of Environmental Quality* 42(4): 1256–66. http://doi.wiley.com/10.2134/jeq2012.0306 (February 22, 2020).
- Gupta, Prabuddha, Tae Woong Ann, and Seung Mok Lee. 2016. "Use of Biochar to Enhance Constructed Wetland Performance in Wastewater Reclamation." *Environmental Engineering Research* 21(1): 36–44.
- Halverson, Nancy. 2004. *Review of Constructed Subsurface Flow vs. Surface Flow Wetlands*. Aiken, SC (United States). http://www.osti.gov/servlets/purl/835229/ (November 30, 2019).
- Hawkins, H. J., and E. George. 1997. "Hydroponic Culture of the Mycorrhizal Fungus Glomus Mosseae with Linum Usitatissimum L., Sorghum Bicolor L. and Triticum Aestivum L." *Plant and Soil* 196(1): 143–49.
- Heberer, Th, K. Reddersen, and A. Mechlinski. 2002. "From Municipal Sewage to Drinking Water: Fate and Removal of Pharmaceutical Residues in the Aquatic Environment in Urban Areas." In *Water Science and Technology*, , 81–88.
- Hijosa-Valsero, María et al. 2010. "Comprehensive Assessment of the Design Configuration of Constructed Wetlands for the Removal of Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products from Urban Wastewaters." *Water Research* 44(12): 3669–78.
- Hildebrandt, Ulrich, Marjana Regvar, and Hermann Bothe. 2007. "Arbuscular Mycorrhiza and Heavy Metal Tolerance." *Phytochemistry* 68(1): 139–46.
- Hu, Shanshan, Zhongbing Chen, Miroslav Vosátka, and Jan Vymazal. 2020. "Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Colonization and Physiological Functions toward Wetland Plants

under Different Water Regimes." Science of the Total Environment 716: 137040.

- Huang, Honglin et al. 2007. "Effect of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungus (Glomus Caledonium) on the Accumulation and Metabolism of Atrazine in Maize (Zea Mays L.) and Atrazine Dissipation in Soil." *Environmental Pollution* 146(2): 452–57.
- Hughes, Stephen R., Paul Kay, and Lee E. Brown. 2013. "Global Synthesis and Critical Evaluation of Pharmaceutical Data Sets Collected from River Systems." *Environmental Science and Technology* 47(2): 661–77.
- Imfeld, Gwenaël, Mareike Braeckevelt, Peter Kuschk, and Hans H. Richnow. 2009. "Monitoring and Assessing Processes of Organic Chemicals Removal in Constructed Wetlands." *Chemosphere* 74(3): 349–62. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.09.062.
- Jackson, D. K. 1974. "Some Characteristics of Perlite as an Experimental Growth Medium." *Plant and Soil* 40(1): 161–67. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/BF00011418 (March 4, 2020).
- Jiang, Jia Qian, Z. Zhou, and V. K. Sharma. 2013. "Occurrence, Transportation, Monitoring and Treatment of Emerging Micro-Pollutants in Waste Water - A Review from Global Views." *Microchemical Journal* 110: 292–300.
- Joss, Adriano et al. 2006. "Biological Degradation of Pharmaceuticals in Municipal Wastewater Treatment: Proposing a Classification Scheme." *Water Research* 40(8): 1686–96.
- Kang, J. Y., H. H. Lee, and K. H. Kim. 2004. "Physical and Chemical Properties of Inorganic Horticultural Substrates Used in Korea." In *Acta Horticulturae*, International Society for Horticultural Science, 237–41. https://www.actahort.org/books/644/644_32.htm (March 4, 2020).
- Kim, Ilho, Naoyuki Yamashita, and Hiroaki Tanaka. 2009. "Performance of UV and UV/H2O2 Processes for the Removal of Pharmaceuticals Detected in Secondary Effluent of a Sewage Treatment Plant in Japan." *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 166(2–3): 1134–40.
- Kim, Sang D. et al. 2007. "Occurrence and Removal of Pharmaceuticals and Endocrine Disruptors in South Korean Surface, Drinking, and Waste Waters." *Water Research* 41(5): 1013–21.
- Laber, Johannes, Reinhard Perfler, and Raimund Haberl. 1997. "Two Strategies for Advanced Nitrogen Elimination in Vertical Flow Constructed Wetlands." *Water Science and Technology* 35(5): 71–77.
- Lancheros, Juan Camilo et al. 2019. "Ibuprofen and Naproxen Removal from Domestic Wastewater Using a Horizontal Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetland Coupled to Ozonation." *Ecological Engineering* 135(October 2018): 89–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2019.05.007.
- Langer, Ingrid et al. 2010. "Plant Growth and Root Morphology of Phaseolus Vulgaris L. Grown in a Split-Root System Is Affected by Heterogeneity of Crude Oil Pollution and Mycorrhizal Colonization." *Plant and Soil* 332(1–2): 339–55. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11104-010-0300-y (December 5, 2019).
- Li, Yinghua, Haibo Li, Tieheng Sun, and Xin Wang. 2011. "Study on Nitrogen Removal Enhanced by Shunt Distributing Wastewater in a Constructed Subsurface Infiltration System under Intermittent Operation Mode." *Journal of hazardous materials* 189(1–2): 336–41. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21402440 (December 9, 2019).
- Liang, B. et al. 2006. "Black Carbon Increases Cation Exchange Capacity in Soils." Soil Science Society of America Journal 70(5): 1719. https://www.soils.org/publications/sssaj/abstracts/70/5/1719 (December 3, 2019).
- Liu, Ze hua, Yoshinori Kanjo, and Satoshi Mizutani. 2009. "Removal Mechanisms for

Endocrine Disrupting Compounds (EDCs) in Wastewater Treatment - Physical Means, Biodegradation, and Chemical Advanced Oxidation: A Review." *Science of the Total Environment* 407(2): 731–48.

- Liu, Zhengang, and Fu Shen Zhang. 2009. "Removal of Lead from Water Using Biochars Prepared from Hydrothermal Liquefaction of Biomass." *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 167(1–3): 933–39.
- Lizama Allende, K., T. D. Fletcher, and G. Sun. 2012. "The Effect of Substrate Media on the Removal of Arsenic, Boron and Iron from an Acidic Wastewater in Planted Column Reactors." *Chemical Engineering Journal* 179: 119–30. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1385894711013088 (March 19, 2020).
- Long, Yan et al. 2016. "Substrate Influences on Archaeal and Bacterial Assemblages in Constructed Wetland Microcosms." *Ecological Engineering* 94: 437–42. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0925857416303408 (March 19, 2020).
- Lu, Songliu, Hongying Hu, Yingxue Sun, and Jia Yang. 2009. "Effect of Carbon Source on the Denitrification in Constructed Wetlands." *Journal of environmental sciences (China)* 21(8): 1036–43. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19862915 (March 3, 2020).
- Maldonado-Torres, Sabino et al. 2018. "Fate, Transformation, and Toxicological Impacts of Pharmaceutical and Personal Care Products in Surface Waters." *Environmental Health Insights* 12.
- Marschner, Bernd, Steffen Werner, Karsten Alfes, and Manfred Lübken. 2013. 15 Geophysical Research Abstracts *Potential Dual Use of Biochar for Wastewater Treatment and Soil Amelioration*.
- Matamoros, Víctor, Carlos Arias, Hans Brix, and Josep M. Bayona. 2007. "Removal of Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products (PPCPs) from Urban Wastewater in a Pilot Vertical Flow Constructed Wetland and a Sand Filter."
- Matamoros, Víctor, and Josep M. Bayona. 2006. "Elimination of Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetlands." *Environmental Science and Technology* 40(18): 5811–16.
- Matamoros, Víctor, Aracelly Caselles-Osorio, Joan García, and Josep M. Bayona. 2008.
 "Behaviour of Pharmaceutical Products and Biodegradation Intermediates in Horizontal Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetland. A Microcosm Experiment." Science of the Total Environment 394(1): 171–76.
- Matamoros, Victor, Joan García, and Josep M. Bayona. 2005. "Behavior of Selected Pharmaceuticals in Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetlands: A Pilot-Scale Study." *Environmental Science and Technology* 39(14): 5449–54.
- Matamoros, Víctor, Joan García, and Josep M. Bayona. 2008. "Organic Micropollutant Removal in a Full-Scale Surface Flow Constructed Wetland Fed with Secondary Effluent." *Water Research* 42(3): 653–60.
- Matamoros, Víctor, Yolanda Rodríguez, and Josep M. Bayona. 2017. "Mitigation of Emerging Contaminants by Full-Scale Horizontal Flow Constructed Wetlands Fed with Secondary Treated Wastewater." *Ecological Engineering* 99: 222–27.
- McEachran, Andrew D., Damian Shea, Wanda Bodnar, and Elizabeth Guthrie Nichols. 2016. "Pharmaceutical Occurrence in Groundwater and Surface Waters in Forests Land-Applied with Municipal Wastewater." *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 35(4): 898–905.
- Meier, Sebastián et al. 2011. "Alleviation of Cu Toxicity in Oenothera Picensis by Copper-Adapted Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi and Treated Agrowaste Residue." *Applied Soil Ecology* 48: 117–24.
- Miller, Susan P. 2000. "Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Colonization of Semi-Aquatic Grasses along a Wide Hydrologic Gradient." *New Phytologist* 145(1): 145–55.

- Miransari, Mohammad. 2011. "Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi and Nitrogen Uptake." Archives of Microbiology 193(2): 77–81.
- Nguyen, Phuong Minh et al. 2019. "Removal of Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products Using Constructed Wetlands: Effective Plant-Bacteria Synergism May Enhance Degradation Efficiency." *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 26(21): 21109–26.
- Nivala, Jaime et al. 2019. "Dynamics of Emerging Organic Contaminant Removal in Conventional and Intensified Subsurface Flow Treatment Wetlands." *Science of the Total Environment* 649: 1144–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.08.339.
- Noorvee, Alar, Elar Põldvere, and Ülo Mander. 2007. "The Effect of Pre-Aeration on the Purification Processes in the Long-Term Performance of a Horizontal Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetland." *Science of The Total Environment* 380(1–3): 229–36. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0048969706008047 (March 3, 2020).
- Oaks, J. Lindsay et al. 2004. "Diclofenac Residues as the Cause of Vulture Population Decline in Pakistan." *Nature* 427(6975): 630–33.
- Oliveira, Milina et al. 2019. "Ibuprofen and Caffeine Removal in Vertical Flow and Free-Floating Macrophyte Constructed Wetlands with Heliconia Rostrata and Eichornia Crassipes." *Chemical Engineering Journal* 373(February): 458–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2019.05.064.
- Onesios, Kathryn M., Jim T. Yu, and Edward J. Bouwer. 2009. "Biodegradation and Removal of Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in Treatment Systems: A Review." *Biodegradation* 20(4): 441–66.
- Oulton, Rebekah L., Tamar Kohn, and David M. Cwiertny. 2010. "Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in Effluent Matrices: A Survey of Transformation and Removal during Wastewater Treatment and Implications for Wastewater Management." *Journal of Environmental Monitoring* 12(11): 1956–78.
- Pal, Amrita, Karina Yew Hoong Gin, Angela Yu Chen Lin, and Martin Reinhard. 2010. "Impacts of Emerging Organic Contaminants on Freshwater Resources: Review of Recent Occurrences, Sources, Fate and Effects." *Science of the Total Environment* 408(24): 6062–69.
- Park, Jongkwan et al. 2018. "Sorption of Pharmaceuticals to Soil Organic Matter in a Constructed Wetland by Electrostatic Interaction." *Science of the Total Environment* 635: 1345–50.
- Petrie, Bruce, Ruth Barden, and Barbara Kasprzyk-Hordern. 2014. "A Review on Emerging Contaminants in Wastewaters and the Environment: Current Knowledge, Understudied Areas and Recommendations for Future Monitoring." *Water Research* 72(0): 3–27. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.08.053.
- Prochaska, C. A., and A. I. Zouboulis. 2006. "Removal of Phosphates by Pilot Vertical-Flow Constructed Wetlands Using a Mixture of Sand and Dolomite as Substrate." *Ecological Engineering* 26(3): 293–303.

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0925857405002260 (February 22, 2020). Redshaw, Clare H., Victoria G. Wootton, and Steven J. Rowland. 2008. "Uptake of the

- Pharmaceutical Fluoxetine Hydrochloride from Growth Medium by Brassicaceae." *Phytochemistry* 69(13): 2510–16.
- Rehman, Khadeeja, Asma Imran, Imran Amin, and Muhammad Afzal. 2018. "Inoculation with Bacteria in Floating Treatment Wetlands Positively Modulates the Phytoremediation of Oil Field Wastewater." *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 349: 242–51.
- Rosal, Roberto et al. 2010. "Occurrence of Emerging Pollutants in Urban Wastewater and Their Removal through Biological Treatment Followed by Ozonation." *Water Research*

44(2): 578-88.

- Rousseau, D. P.L. et al. 2008. "Constructed Wetlands for Water Reclamation." *Desalination* 218(1–3): 181–89.
- Rozari, P., M. Greenway, and A. El Hanandeh. 2015. "An Investigation into the Effectiveness of Sand Media Amended with Biochar to Remove BOD5, Suspended Solids and Coliforms Using Wetland Mesocosms." *Water Science and Technology* 71(10): 1536–44.
- Rustige, H., and Erwin Nolde. 2007. "Nitrogen Elimination from Landfill Leachates Using an Extra Carbon Source in Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetlands." In *Water Science and Technology*, 125–33. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17802847 (March 3, 2020).
- Saeed, Tanveer, and Guangzhi Sun. 2012. "A Review on Nitrogen and Organics Removal Mechanisms in Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetlands: Dependency on Environmental Parameters, Operating Conditions and Supporting Media." *Journal of Environmental Management* 112: 429–48. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2012.08.011.
- Salt, D. E., R. D. Smith, and I. Raskin. 1998. "PHYTOREMEDIATION." Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 49(1): 643–68. http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/10.1146/annurev.arplant.49.1.643 (November 28, 2019).
- Sarrazin, Sandrine, and Michael Sieweke. 2011. "Integration of Cytokine and Transcription Factor Signals in Hematopoietic Stem Cell Commitment." *Seminars in Immunology* 23(5): 326–34.
- Smith, Sally E., Evelina Facelli, Suzanne Pope, and F. Andrew Smith. 2010. "Plant Performance in Stressful Environments: Interpreting New and Established Knowledge of the Roles of Arbuscular Mycorrhizas." *Plant and Soil* 326(1): 3–20.
- Smith, Sally, and David Read. 2008. Mycorrhizal Symbiosis Mycorrhizal Symbiosis. Elsevier Ltd.
- Stein, Otto R., Deborah J. Borden-Stewart, Paul B. Hook, and Warren L. Jones. 2007. "Seasonal Influence on Sulfate Reduction and Zinc Sequestration in Subsurface Treatment Wetlands." *Water Research* 41(15): 3440–48.

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0043135407002825 (February 22, 2020).

- Stottmeister, U. et al. 2003. "Effects of Plants and Microorganisms in Constructed Wetlands for Wastewater Treatment." In *Biotechnology Advances*, Elsevier Inc., 93–117. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0734975003001319 (March 7, 2020).
- Susarla, Sridhar, Victor F. Medina, and Steven C. McCutcheon. 2002. "Phytoremediation: An Ecological Solution to Organic Chemical Contamination." In *Ecological Engineering*, , 647–58.
- Taheri Ghannad, S., S. Boroomandnasab, H. Moazed, and N. Jaafarzadeh. 2015. "The Effects of Substrate Type, HRT and Reed on the Lead Removal in Horizontal Subsurface-Flow Constructed Wetland." *Desalination and Water Treatment* 56(12): 3357–67.
- Ternes, Thomas A., Adriano Joss, and Hansruedi Siegrist. 2004. "Peer Reviewed: Scrutinizing Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in Wastewater Treatment." *Environmental Science & Technology* 38(20): 392A-399A. https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/es040639t (November 26, 2019).
- Torrens, Antonina, Pascal Molle, Catherine Boutin, and Miquel Salgot. 2009. "Impact of Design and Operation Variables on the Performance of Vertical-Flow Constructed Wetlands and Intermittent Sand Filters Treating Pond Effluent." Water Research 43(7): 1851–58.
- Trautwein, Christoph, Jean Daniel Berset, Hendrik Wolschke, and Klaus Kümmerer. 2014. "Occurrence of the Antidiabetic Drug Metformin and Its Ultimate Transformation Product Guanylurea in Several Compartments of the Aquatic Cycle." *Environment*

International 70: 203–12.

- Veldhoen, Nik et al. 2014. "Effects of Acute Exposure to the Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug Ibuprofen on the Developing North American Bullfrog (*Rana Catesbeiana*) Tadpole." *Environmental Science & Technology* 48(17): 10439–47. https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/es502539g (December 1, 2019).
- Verlicchi, P., M. Al Aukidy, and E. Zambello. 2012. "Occurrence of Pharmaceutical Compounds in Urban Wastewater: Removal, Mass Load and Environmental Risk after a Secondary Treatment-A Review." Science of the Total Environment 429: 123–55.
- Verlicchi, Paola, and Elena Zambello. 2014. "How Efficient Are Constructed Wetlands in Removing Pharmaceuticals from Untreated and Treated Urban Wastewaters? A Review." Science of the Total Environment 470–471: 1281–1306. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.10.085 (November 27, 2019).
- Vo, Hoang Nhat Phong et al. 2018. "Insights of the Removal Mechanisms of Pharmaceutical and Personal Care Products in Constructed Wetlands." *Current Pollution Reports* 4(2): 93–103.
- Vymazal, Jan. 2005. "Horizontal Sub-Surface Flow and Hybrid Constructed Wetlands Systems for Wastewater Treatment." In *Ecological Engineering*, , 478–90.
- Wang, Lan et al. 2016. "Gene Response of CYP360A, CYP314, and GST and Whole-Organism Changes in Daphnia Magna Exposed to Ibuprofen." *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part - C: Toxicology and Pharmacology* 179: 49–56.
- Wang, Yutao et al. 2011. "Flooding Greatly Affects the Diversity of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Communities in the Roots of Wetland Plants" ed. Jonathan H. Badger. *PLoS ONE* 6(9): e24512. https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0024512 (December 9, 2019).
- Wang, Zhen et al. 2013. "Screening of Phosphate-Removing Substrates for Use in Constructed Wetlands Treating Swine Wastewater." *Ecological Engineering* 54: 57–65. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0925857413000323 (February 22, 2020).
- Wang, Zhi Gang et al. 2016. "Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi Enhance Soil Carbon Sequestration in the Coalfields, Northwest China." *Scientific Reports* 6(1): 1–11.
- Warnock, Daniel D., Johannes Lehmann, Thomas W. Kuyper, and Matthias C. Rillig. 2007. "Mycorrhizal Responses to Biochar in Soil - Concepts and Mechanisms." *Plant and Soil* 300(1–2): 9–20.
- Weigel, Stefan et al. 2004. "Determination of Selected Pharmaceuticals and Caffeine in Sewage and Seawater from Tromsø/Norway with Emphasis on Ibuprofen and Its Metabolites." *Chemosphere* 56(6): 583–92.
- Wiessner, A., U. Kappelmeyer, P. Kuschk, and M. Kästner. 2005. "Sulphate Reduction and the Removal of Carbon and Ammonia in a Laboratory-Scale Constructed Wetland." *Water Research* 39(19): 4643–50.

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0043135405005087 (February 22, 2020).

- Wolfe, Benjamin E., Daniel L. Mummey, Matthias C. Rillig, and John N. Klironomos. 2007. "Small-Scale Spatial Heterogeneity of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungal Abundance and Community Composition in a Wetland Plant Community." *Mycorrhiza* 17(3): 175–83.
- Wu, Naiying et al. 2009. "Phenanthrene Uptake by Medicago Sativa L. under the Influence of an Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungus." *Environmental Pollution* 157(5): 1613–18.
- Xu, Zhouying et al. 2018. "Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Two Vertical-Flow Wetlands Constructed for Heavy Metal-Contaminated Wastewater Bioremediation." *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 25(13): 12830–40.
- Xu, Zhouying et al. 2016. "Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Wetland Habitats and Their Application in Constructed Wetland: A Review." *Pedosphere* 26(5): 592–617.
- Yang, Yan, Yaqian Zhao, Ranbin Liu, and David Morgan. 2018. "Global Development of Various Emerged Substrates Utilized in Constructed Wetlands." *Bioresource*

Technology 261: 441-52.

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0960852418304474 (March 21, 2020).

- Yu, X. Z., S. C. Wu, F. Y. Wu, and M. H. Wong. 2011. "Enhanced Dissipation of PAHs from Soil Using Mycorrhizal Ryegrass and PAH-Degrading Bacteria." *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 186(2–3): 1206–17.
- Zhang, Dongqing, Richard M. Gersberg, Wun Jern Ng, and Soon Keat Tan. 2014. "Removal of Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in Aquatic Plant-Based Systems: A Review." *Environmental Pollution* 184: 620–39.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2013.09.009 (November 26, 2019).

- Zhang, Liang et al. 2017. "Effects of Constructed Wetland Design on Ibuprofen Removal A Mesocosm Scale Study." *Science of the Total Environment* 609: 38–45.
- Zhang, Yang et al. 2016. "Removal of the Pharmaceuticals Ibuprofen and Iohexol by Four Wetland Plant Species in Hydroponic Culture: Plant Uptake and Microbial Degradation." *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 23(3): 2890–98.
- Zhang, Zhenhua et al. 2013. "Biochars Immobilize Soil Cadmium, but Do Not Improve Growth of Emergent Wetland Species Juncus Subsecundus in Cadmium-Contaminated Soil." *Journal of Soils and Sediments* 13(1): 140–51.
- Zhou, X B, A Cébron, T Béguiristain, and C Leyval. 2009. "Water and Phosphorus Content Affect PAH Dissipation in Spiked Soil Planted with Mycorrhizal Alfalfa and Tall Fescue."